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Foreword

On April 3, 2014, the Senate Select Committee on Intelligence voted to send the
Findings and Conclusions and the Executive Summary of its final Study on the
CIA’s Detention and Interrogation Program to the President for declassification
and subsequent public release. L

This action marked the culmination of a monumental effort that officially began
with the Committee’s decision to initiate the Study in March 2009, but which had
its roots in an investigation into the CIA’s destruction of videotapes of CIA
detainee interrogations that began in December 2007.

‘The full Committee Study, which totals more than 6,700 pages, remains classified
but is now an official Senate report. The full report has been provided to the White
House, the CIA, the Department of Justice, the Department of Defense, the
Department of State, and the Office of the Director of National Intelligence in the
hopes that it will prevent future coercive interrogation practices and inform the
management of other covert action programs.

As the Chairman of the Committee since 2009, I write to offer some additional
views, context, and history.

I'began my service on the Senate Intelligence Committee in January 2001. I
remember testimony that summer from George Tenet, the Director of Central
Intelligence, that warned of a possible major terrorist event against the United
States, but without specifics on the time, location, or method of attack. On
September 11, 2001, the world learned the answers to those questions that had
consumed the CIA and other parts of the U.S. Intelligence Community.'

I recall vividly watching the horror of that day, to include the television footage of
innocent men and women jumping out of the World Trade Center towers to escape
the fire. The images, and the sounds as their bodies hit the pavement far below,
will remain with me for the rest of my life.

It is against that backdrop — the largest attack against the American homeland in
our history — that the events described in this report were undertaken.

! For information on the events at the CIA prior to September 11, 2001, see the Final Report of the National
Commission on Terrorist Attacks upon the United States (9/11 Commission) and Office of the Inspector General
Report on CIA Accountability With Respect to the 9/11 Attacks.
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Nearly 13 years later, the Executive Summary and Findings and Conclusions of
this report are being released. They are highly critical of the CIA’s actions, and
rightfully so. Reading them, it is easy to forget the context in which the program
began — not that the context should serve as an excuse, but rather as a warning for
the future.

It is worth remembering the pervasive fear in late 2001 and how immediate the
threat felt. Just a week after the September 11 attacks, powdered anthrax was sent
to various news organizations and to two U.S. Senators. The American public was
shocked by news of new terrorist plots and elevations of the color-coded threat
level of the Homeland Security Advisory System. We expected further attacks
against the nation. '

I have attempted throughout to remember the impact on the nation and to the CIA
workforce from the attacks of September 11, 2001. I can understand the CIA’s
impulse to consider the use of every possible tool to gather intelligence and remove
terrorists from the battlefield,” and CIA was encouraged by political leaders and
the public to do whatever.it could to prevent another attack.

The Intelligence Committee as well often pushes intelligence agencies to act
quickly in response to threats and world events.

Nevertheless, such pressure, fear, and expectation of further terrorist plots do not
justify, temper, or excuse improper actions taken by individuals or organizations in
the name of national security. The major lesson of this report is that regardless of
the pressures and the need to act, the Intelligence Community’s actions must
always reflect who we are as a nation, and adhere to our laws and standards. It is
precisely at these times of national crisis that our government must be guided by
the lessons of our history and subject decisions to internal and external review.

Instead, CIA personnel, aided by two outside contractors, decided to initiate a
program of indefinite secret detention and the use of brutal interrogation
techniques in violation of U.S. law, treaty obligations, and our values.

This Committee Study documents the abuses and countless mistakes made
between late 2001 and early 2009. The Executive Summary of the Study provides

2 It is worth repeating that the covert action authorities approved by the President in September 2001 did not provide
any authorization or contemplate coercive interrogations.
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a significant amount of new information, based on CIA and other documents, to
what has already been made public by the Bush and Obama Administrations, as
well as non-governmental organizations and the press.

The Committee’s full Study is more than ten times the length of the Executive
Summary and includes comprehensive and excruciating detail. The Study
describes the history of the CIA’s Detention and Interrogation Program from its
inception to its termination, including a review of each of the 119 known
individuals who were held in CIA custody.

The full Committee Study also provides substantially more detail than what is
included in the Executive Summary on the CIA’s justification and defense of its
interrogation program on the basis that it was necessary and critical to the
disruption of specific terrorist plots and the capture of specific terrorists. While the
Executive Summary provides sufficient detail to demonstrate the inaccuracies of
each of these claims, the information in the full Committee Study is far more
extensive.

I chose not to seek declassification of the full Committee Study at this time. I
believe that the Executive Summary includes enough information to adequately
describe the CIA’s Detention and Interrogation Program, and the Committee’s
Findings and Conclusions cover the entirety of the program. Seeking
declassification of the more than six thousand page report would have significantly
delayed the release of the Executive Summary. Decisions will be made later on the
declassification and release of the full 6,700 page Study.

In 2009, when this effort began, I stated (in a press release co-authored with the
Vice Chairman of the Committee, Senator Kit Bond) that “the purpose is to review
the program and to shape detention and interrogation policies in the future.” The
review is now done. It is my sincere and deep hope that through the release of
these Findings and Conclusions and Executive Summary that U.S. policy will
never again allow for secret indefinite detention and the use of coercive
interrogations. As the Study describes, prior to the attacks of September 2001, the
CIA itself determined from its own experience with coercive interrogations, that
such techniques “do not produce intelligence,” “will probably result in false
answers,” and had historically proven to be ineffective. Yet these conclusions
were ignored. We cannot again allow history to be forgotten and grievous past
mistakes to be repeated.
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President Obama signed Executive Order 13491 in January 2009 to prohibit the
CIA from holding detainees other than on a “short-term, transitory basis” and to
limit interrogation techniques to those included in the Army Field Manual.
However, these limitations are not part of U.S. law and could be overturned by a
future president with the stroke of a pen. They should be enshrined in legislation.

Even so, existing U.S. law and treaty obligations should have prevented many of
the abuses and mistakes made during this program. While the Office of Legal
Counsel found otherwise between 2002 and 2007, it is my personal conclusion
that, under any common meaning of the term, CIA detainees were tortured. I also
believe that the conditions of confinement and the use of authorized and
unauthorized interrogation and conditioning techniques were cruel, inhuman, and
degrading. I believe the evidence of this is overwhelming and incontrovertible.

While the Committee did not make specific recommendations, several emerge
from the Committee’s review. The CIA, in its June 2013 response to the
Committee’s Study from December 2012, has also already made and begun to
implement its own recommendations. I intend to work with Senate colleagues to
produce recommendations and to solicit views from the readers of the Committee
Study.

I would also like to take this opportunity to describe the process of this study.

As noted previously, the Committee approved the Terms of Reference for the
Study in March 2009 and began requesting information from the CIA and other
federal departments. The Committee, through its staff, had already reviewed in
2008 thousands of CIA cables describing the interrogations of the CIA detainees
Abu Zubaydah and ‘Abd al-Rahim al-Nashiri, whose interrogations were the
subject of videotapes that were destroyed by the CIA in 2005.

The 2008 review was complicated by the existence of a Department of Justice
investigation, opened by Attorney General Michael Mukasey, into the destruction
of the videotapes and expanded by Attorney General Holder in August 2009. In
particular, CIA employees and contractors who would otherwise have been
interviewed by the Committee staff were under potential legal jeopardy, and
therefore the CIA would not compel its workforce to appear before the Committee.
This constraint lasted until the Committee’s research and documentary review
were completed and the Committee Study had largely been finalized.
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Furthermore, given the volume and internal nature of relevant CIA documents, the
CIA insisted that the Committee enter into an arrangement where our staff would
review documents and conduct research at a CIA-leased facility

I -2 ther than at the Committee’s offices on Capitol Hill.

From early 2009 to late 2012, a small group of Committee staff reviewed the more
than six million pages of CIA materials, to include operational cables, intelligence
reports, internal memoranda and emails, briefing materials, interview transcripts,
contracts, and other records. Draft sections of the Study were prepared and
distributed to the full Committee membership beginning in October 2011 and this
process continued through to the Committee’s vote to approve the full Committee
Study on December 13, 2012. :

The breadth of documentary material on which the Study relied and which the
Committee Study cites is unprecedented. While the Committee did not interview
CIA officials in the context of the Committee Study, it had access to and drew
from the interviews of numerous CIA officials conducted by the CIA’s Inspector
General and the CIA Oral History program on subjects that lie at the heart of the
Committee Study, as well as past testimony to the Committee.

Following the December 2012 vote, the Committee Study was sent to the President
and appropriate parts of the Executive Branch for comments by February 15, 2013.
The CIA responded in late June 2013 with extensive comments on the Findings
and Conclusions, based in part on the responses of CIA officials involved in the
program. At my direction, the Committee staff met with CIA representatives in
order to fully understand the CIA’s comments, and then incorporated suggested
edits or comments as appropriate.

The Committee Study, including the now-declassified Executive Summary and
Findings and Conclusions, as updated is now final and represents the official views
of the Committee. This and future Administrations should use this Study to guide
future programs, correct past mistakes, increase oversight of CIA representations
to policymakers, and ensure coercive interrogation practices are not used by our
government again.

Finally, I want to recognize the members of the staff who have endured years of
long hours poring through the difficult details of one of the lowest points in our
nation’s history. They have produced the most significant and comprehensive
oversight report in the Committee’s history, and perhaps in that of the U.S. Senate,
and their contributions should be recognized and praised.

Page 5 of 6

UNCLASSIFIED

PLAINTIFFO0003600



Case 2:15-cv-00286-JLNCLASSURNEDt 199-1  Filed 06/26/17

Daniel Jones has managed and led the Committee’s review effort from its ‘
inception. Dan has devoted more than six years to this effort, has personally

written thousands of its pages, and has been integrally involved in every Study

decision. Evan Gottesman, Chad Tanner, and Alissa Starzak have also played

integral roles in the Committee Study and have spent considerable years

researching and drafting specific sections of the Committee Study.

Other Committee staff members have also assisted in the review and provided
valuable contributions at the direction of our Committee Members. They include,
among others, Jennifer Barrett, Nick Basciano, Michael Buchwald, Jim Catella,
Eric Chapman, John Dickas, Lorenzo Goco, Andrew Grotto, Tressa Guenov, Clete
Johnson, Michael Noblet, Michael Pevzner, Tommy Ross, Caroline Tess, and

~ James Wolfe. The Committee’s Staff Director throughout the review, David
Grannis, has played a central role in assisting me and guiding the Committee
through this entire process. Without the expertise, patience, and work ethic of our
able staff, our Members would not have been able to complete this most important
work.

Dianne Feinstein
Chairman
Senate Select Committee on Intelligence
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The Committee makes the following findings and conclusions:

#1: The CIA’s use of its enhanced interrogation techniques was not an effective means of
acquiring intelligence or gaining cooperation from detainees.

The Committee finds, based on a review of CIA interrogation records, that the use of the CIA’s
enhanced interrogation techniques was not an effective means of obtaining accurate information
or gaining detainee cooperation,

For example, according to CIA records, seven of the 39 CIA detainees known to have been
subjected to the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques produced no intelligence while in CIA
custody.! CIA detainees who were subjected to the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques
were usually subjected to the techniques immediately after being rendered to CIA custody.
Other detainees provided significant accurate intelligence prior to, or without having been
subjected to these techniques.

While being subjected to the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques and afterwards, multiple
CIA detainees fabricated information, resulting in faulty intelligence. Detainees provided
fabricated information on critical intelligence issues, including the terrorist threats which the
CIA identified as its highest priorities.

At numerous times throughout the CIA’s Detention and Interrogation Program, CIA personnel
assessed that the most effective method for acquiring intelligence from detainees, including from
detainees the CIA considered to be the most “high-value,” was to confront the detainees with
information already acquired by the Intelligence Community. CIA officers regularly called into
question whether the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques were effective, assessing that the
use of the techniques failed to elicit detainee cooperation or produce accurate intelligence.

#2: The CIA’s justification for the use of its enhanced interrogation techniques rested on
inaccurate claims of their effectiveness.

The CIA represented to the White House, the National Security Council, the Department of
Justice, the CIA Office of Inspector General, the Congress, and the public that the best measure
of effectiveness of the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques was examples of specific
terrorist plots “thwarted” and specific terrorists captured as a result of the use of the techniques.
The CIA used these examples to claim that its enhanced interrogation techniques were not only
cffective, but also necessary to acquire “otherwise unavailable” actionable intelligence that
“saved lives.”

The Committee reviewed 20 of the most frequent and prominent examples of purported
counterterrorism successes that the CIA has attributed to the use of its enhanced interrogation
techniques, and found them to be wrong in fundamental respects. In some cases, there was no
relationship between the cited counterterrorism success and any information provided by
detainees during or after the use of the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques. In the
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remaining cases, the CIA inaccurately claimed that specific, otherwise unavailable information
was acquired from a CIA detainee “as a result” of the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques,
when in fact the information was either: (1) corroborative of information already available to the
CIA or other elements of the U.S. Intelligence Community from sources other than the CIA
detainee, and was therefore not “otherwise unavailable”; or (2) acquired from the CIA detainee
prior to the use of the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques. The examples provided by the
CIA included numerous factual inaccuracies.

In providing the “effectiveness” examples to policymakers, the Department of Justice, and
others, the CIA consistently omitted the significant amount of relevant intelligence obtained
from sources other than CIA detainees who had been subjected to the CIA’s enhanced
interrogation techniques—leaving the false impression the CIA was acquiring unique
information from the use of the techniques.

Some of the plots that the CIA claimed to have “disrupted” as a result of the CIA’s enhanced
interrogation techniques were assessed by intelligence and law enforcement officials as being
infeasible or ideas that were never operationalized.

#3: The interrogations of CIA detainees were brutal and far worse than the CIA
represented to policymakers and others.

Beginning with the CIA’s first detainee, Abu Zubaydah, and continuing with numerous others,
the CIA applied its enhanced interrogation techniques with significant repetition for days or
weeks at a time. Interrogation techniques such as slaps and “wallings” (slamming detainees
against a wall) were used in combination, frequently concurrent with sleep deprivation and
nudity. Records do not support CIA representations that the CIA initially used an “an open, non-
threatening approach,”? or that interrogations began with the “least coercive technique possible™3
and escalated to more coercive techniques only as necessary.

The waterboarding technique was physically harmful, inducing convulsions and vomiting. Abu
Zubaydah, for example, became “‘completely unresponsive, with bubbles rising through his open,
full mouth.”* Internal CIA records describe the waterboarding of Khalid Shaykh Mohammad as
evolving into a “series of near drownings.”

Sleep deprivation involved keeping detainees awake for up to 180 hours, usually standing or in
stress positions, at times with their hands shackled above their heads. At least five detainees
experienced disturbing hallucinations during prolonged sleep deprivation and, in at least two of
those cases, the CIA nonetheless continued the sleep deprivation.

Contrary to CIA representations to the Department of Justice, the CIA instructed personnel that
the interrogation of Abu Zubaydah would take “precedence” over his medical care.® resulting in
the deterioration of a bullet wound Abu Zubaydah incurred during his capture. In at least two
other cases, the CIA used its enhanced interrogation techniques despite warnings from CIA
medical personnel that the techniques could exacerbate physical injuries. CIA medical personnel
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treated at least one detainee for swelling in order to allow the continued use of standing sleep
deprivation.

At least five CIA detainees were subjected to “rectal rehydration” or rectal feeding without
documented medical necessity. The CIA placed detainees in ice water “baths.” The CIA led
several detainees to believe they would never be allowed to leave CIA custody alive, suggesting
to one detainee that he would only leave in a coffin-shaped box.” One interrogator told another
detainee that he would never go to court, because “we can never let the world know what I have
done to you.”® CIA officers also threatened at least three detainees with harm to their families—
to include threats to harm the children of a detainee, threats to sexually abuse the mother of a
detainee, and a threat to “cut [a detainee’s] mother’s throat.”

#4: The conditions of confinement for CIA detainees were harsher than the CIA had
represented to policymakers and others.

Conditions at CIA detention sites were poor, and were especially bleak early in the program.
CIA detainees at the COBALT detention facility were kept in complete darkness and constantly
shackled in isolated cells with loud noise or music and only a bucket to use for human waste. '
Lack of heat at the facility likely contributed to the death of a detainee. The chief of
interrogations described COBALT as a “dungeon.”!! Another senior CIA officer stated that
COBALT was itself an enhanced interrogation technique.'?

At times, the detainees at COBALT were walked around naked or were shackled with their
hands above their heads for extended periods of time. Other times, the detainees at COBALT
were subjected to what was described as a “rough takedown,” in which approximately five CIA
officers would scream at a detainee, drag him outside of his cell, cut his clothes off, and secure
him with Mylar tape. The detainee would then be hooded and dragged up and down a long
corridor while being slapped and punched.

Even after the conditions of confinement improved with the construction of new detention
facilities, detainees were held in total isolation except when being interrogated or debriefed by
CIA personnel.

Throughout the program, multiple CIA detainees who were subjected to the CIA’s enhanced
interrogation techniques and extended isolation exhibited psychological and behavioral issues,
including hallucinations, paranoia, insomnia, and attempts at self-harm and self-mutilation.
Multiple psychologists identified the lack of human contact experienced by detainees as a cause
of psychiatric problems.

#5: The CIA repeatedly provided inaccurate information to the Department of Justice,
impeding a proper legal analysis of the CIA’s Detention and Interrogation Program.

From 2002 to 2007, the Office of Legal Counsel (OLC) within the Department of Justice relied
on CIA representations regarding: (1) the conditions of confinement for detainees, (2) the
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application of the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques, (3) the physical effects of the
techniques on detainees, and (4) the effectiveness of the techniques. Those representations were
inaccurate in material respects.

The Department of Justice did not conduct independent analysis or verification of the
information it received from the CIA. The department warned, however, that if the facts
provided by the CIA were to change, its legal conclusions might not apply. When the CIA
determined that information it had provided to the Department of Justice was incorrect, the CIA
rarely informed the department.

Prior to the initiation of the CIA’s Detention and Interrogation Program and throughout the life
of the program, the legal justifications for the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques relied on
the CIA’s claim that the techniques were necessary to save lives. In late 2001 and early 2002,
senior attorneys at the CIA Office of General Counsel first examined the legal implications of
using coercive interrogation techniques. CIA attorneys stated that “a novel application of the
necessity defense” could be used “to avoid prosecution of U.S. officials who tortured to obtain
information that saved many lives.”?

Having reviewed information provided by the CIA, the OLC included the *“necessity defense” in
its August 1, 2002, memorandum to the White House counsel on Standards of Conduct for
Interrogation. The OLC determined that “under the current circumstances, necessity or self-
defense may justify interrogation methods that might violate” the criminal prohibition against
torture.

On the same day, a second OLC opinion approved, for the first time, the use of 10 specific
coercive interrogation techniques against Abu Zubaydah—subsequently referred to as the CIA’s
“enhanced interrogation techniques.” The OLC relied on inaccurate CIA representations about
Abu Zubaydah'’s status in al-Qa’ida and the interrogation team’s “certain[ty]” that Abu
Zubaydah was withholding information about planned terrorist attacks. The CIA’s
representations to the OLC about the techniques were also inconsistent with how the techniques
would later be applied.

In March 20035, the CIA submitted to the Department of Justice various examples of the
“effectiveness” of the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques that were inaccurate. OLC
memoranda signed on May 30, 2005, and July 20, 2007, relied on these representations,
determining that the techniques were legal in part because they produced *specific, actionable
intelligence” and “substantial quantities of otherwise unavailable intelligence” that saved lives.'*

#6: The CIA has actively avoided or impeded congressional oversight of the program.

The CIA did not brief the leadership of the Senate Select Committee on Intelligence on the
CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques until September 2002, after the techniques had been
approved and used. The CIA did not respond to Chairman Bob Graham’s requests for additional
information in 2002, noting in its own internal communications that he would be leaving the
Committee in January 2003. The CIA subsequently resisted efforts by Vice Chairman John D.
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Rockefeller IV, to investigate the program, including by refusing in 2006 to provide requested
documents to the full Committee.

The CIA restricted access to information about the program from members of the Committee
beyond the chairman and vice chairman until September 6, 2006, the day the president publicly
acknowledged the program, by which time 117 of the 119 known detainees had already entered
CIA custody. Until then, the CIA had declined to answer questions from other Committee
members that related to CIA interrogation activities.!

Prior to September 6, 2006, the CIA provided inaccurate information to the leadership of the
Committee. Briefings to the full Committee beginning on September 6, 2006, also contained
numerous inaccuracies, including inaccurate descriptions of how interrogation techniques were
applied and what information was obtained from CIA detainees. The CIA misrepresented the
views of members of Congress on a number of occasions. After multiple senators had been
critical of the program and written letters expressing concerns to CIA Director Michael Hayden,
Director Hayden nonetheless told a meeting of foreign ambassadors to the United States that
every Committee member was “fully briefed,” and that “{t]his is not CIA’s program. This is not
the President’s program. This is America’s program.”'® The CIA also provided inaccurate
information describing the views of U.S. senators about the program to the Department of
Justice.

A year after being briefed on the program, the House and Senate Conference Committee
considering the Fiscal Year 2008 Intelligence Authorization bill voted to limit the CIA to using
only interrogation techniques authorized by the Army Field Manual. That legislation was
approved by the Senate and the House of Representatives in February 2008, and was vetoed by
President Bush on March 8, 2008.

#7: The CIA impeded effective White House oversight and decision-making.

The CIA provided extensive amounts of inaccurate and incomplete information related to the
operation and effectiveness of the CIA’s Detention and Interrogation Program to the White
House, the National Security Council principals, and their staffs. This prevented an accurate and
complete understanding of the program by Executive Branch officials, thereby impeding
oversight and decision-making.

According to CIA records, no CIA officer, up to and including CIA Directors George Tenet and
Porter Goss, briefed the president on the specific CIA enhanced interrogation techniques before
April 2006. By that time, 38 of the 39 detainees identified as having been subjected to the CIA’s
enhanced interrogation techniques had already been subjected to the techniques.!” The CIA did
not inform the president or vice president of the location of CIA detention facilities other than
Country ..18

At the direction of the White House, the secretaries of state and defense — both principals on the
National Security Council — were not briefed on program specifics until September 2003. An
internal CIA email from July 2003 noted that “... the WH [White House] is extremely concerned
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[Secretary] Powell would blow his stack if he were to be briefed on what’s been going on.
Deputy Secretary of State Armitage complained that he and Secretary Powell were “cut out” of
the National Security Council coordination process.?

19

The CIA repeatedly provided incomplete and inaccurate information to White House personnel
regarding the operation and effectiveness of the CIA’s Detention and Interrogation Program.
This includes the provision of inaccurate statements similar to those provided to other elements
of the U.S. Government and later to the public, as well as instances in which specific questions
from White House officials were not answered truthfully or fully. In briefings for the National
Security Council principals and White House officials, the CIA advocated for the continued use
of the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques, warning that “[tlermination of this program will
result in loss of life, possibly extensive.”?! '

#8: The CIA’s operation and management of the program complicated, and in some cases
impeded, the national security missions of other Executive Branch agencies.

The CIA, in the conduct of its Detention and Interrogation Program, complicated, and in some
cases impeded, the national security missions of other Executive Branch agencies, including the
Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI), the State Department, and the Office of the Director of
National Intelligence (ODNI). The CIA withheld or restricted information relevant to these
agencies’ missions and responsibilities, denied access to detainees, and provided inaccurate
information on the CIA’s Detention and Interrogation Program to these agencies.

The use of coercive interrogation techniques and covert detention facilities that did not meet
traditional U.S. standards resulted in the FBI and the Department of Defense limiting their
involvement in CIA interrogation and detention activities. This reduced the ability of the U.S.
Government to deploy available resources and expert personnel to interrogate detainees and
operate detention facilities. The CIA denied specific requests from FBI Director Robert Mueller
III for FBI access to CIA detainees that the FBI believed was necessary to understand CIA
detainee reporting on threats to the U.S. Homeland. Information obtained from CIA detainees
was restricted within the Intelligence Community, leading to concerns among senior CIA
officers that limitations on sharing information undermined government-wide counterterrorism
analysis.

The CIA blocked State Department leadership from access to information crucial to foreign
policy decision-making and diplomatic activities. The CIA did not inform two secretaries of
state of locations of CIA detention facilities, despite the significant foreign policy implications
related to the hosting of clandestine CIA detention sites and the fact that the political leaders of
host countries were generally informed of their existence. Moreover, CIA officers told U.S.
ambassadors not to discuss the CIA program with State Department officials, preventing the
ambassadors from seeking guidance on the policy implications of establishing CIA detention
facilities in the countries in which they served.

In two countries, U.S. ambassadors were informed of plans to establish a CIA detention site in
the countries where they were serving after the CIA had already entered into agreements with the
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countries to host the detention sites. In two other countries where negotiations on hosting new
CIA detention facilities were taking place,?? the CIA told local government officials not to
inform the U.S. ambassadors.?*

The ODNI was provided with inaccurate and incomplete information about the program,
preventing the director of national intelligence from effectively carrying out the director’s
statutory responsibility to serve as the principal advisor to the president on intelligence matters.
The inaccurate information provided to the ODNI by the CIA resulted in the ODNI releasing
inaccurate information to the public in September 2006.

#9: The CIA impeded oversight by the CIA’s Office of Inspector General.

The CIA avoided, resisted, and otherwise impeded oversight of the CIA’s Detention and
Interrogation Program by the CIA’s Office of Inspector General (OIG). The CIA did not brief
the OIG on the program until after the death of a detainee, by which time the CIA had held at
least 22 detainees at two different CIA detention sites. Once notified, the OIG reviewed the
CIA’s Detention and Interrogation Program and issued several reports, including an important
May 2004 “‘Special Review” of the program that identified significant concerns and deficiencies.

During the OIG reviews, CIA personnel provided OIG with inaccurate information on the
operation and management of the CIA’s Detention and Interrogation Program, as well as on the
effectiveness of the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques. The inaccurate information was
included in the final May 2004 Special Review, which was later declassified and released
publicly, and remains uncorrected.

In 2005, CIA Director Goss requested in writing that the inspector general not initiate further
reviews of the CIA’s Detention and Interrogation Program until reviews already underway were
completed. In 2007, Director Hayden ordered an unprecedented review of the OIG itself in
response to the OIG’s inquiries into the CIA’s Detention and Interrogation Program.

#10: The CIA coordinated the release of classified information to the media, including
inaccurate information concerning the effectiveness of the CIA’s enhanced interrogation
techniques.

The CIA’s Office of Public Affairs and senior CIA officials coordinated to share classified
information on the CIA’s Detention and Interrogation Program to select members of the media to
counter public criticism, shape public opinion, and avoid potential congressional action to restrict
the CIA’s detention and interrogation authorities and budget. These disclosures occurred when
the program was a classified covert action program, and before the CIA had briefed the full
Committee membership on the program.

The deputy director of the CIA’s Counterterrorism Center wrote to a colleague in 2005, shortly
before being interviewed by a media outlet, that *“we either get out and sell, or we get hammered,
which has implications beyond the media. [Clongress reads it, cuts our authorities, messes up
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our budget... we either put out our story or we get eaten. [Tlhere is no middle ground.”** The
same CIA officer explained to a colleague that “when the [Washington Post]/[New York T]imes
quotes ‘senior intelligence official,’ it’s us... authorized and directed by opa [CIA’s Office of
Public Affairs].”?

Much of the information the CIA provided to the media on the operation of the CIA’s Detention
and Interrogation Program and the effectiveness of its enhanced interrogation techniques was
inaccurate and was similar to the inaccurate information provided by the CIA to the Congress,
the Department of Justice, and the White House.

#11: The CIA was unprepared as it began operating its Detention and Interrogation
Program more than six months after being granted detention authorities.

On September 17, 2001, the President signed a covert action Memorandum of Notification
(MON) granting the CIA unprecedented counterterrorism authorities, including the authority to
covertly capture and detain individuals “posing a continuing, serious threat of violence or death
to U.S. persons and interests or planning terrorist activities.” The MON made no reference to
interrogations or coercive interrogation techniques.

The CIA was not prepared to take custody of its first detainee. In the fall of 2001, the CIA
explored the possibility of establishing clandestine detention facilities in several countries. The
CIA’s review identified risks associated with clandestine detention that led it to conclude that
U.S. military bases were the best option for the CIA to detain individuals under the MON
authorities. In late March 2002, the imminent capture of Abu Zubaydah prompted the CIA to
again consider various detention options. In part to avoid declaring Abu Zubaydah to the
International Committee of the Red Cross, which would be required if he were detained at a U.S.
military base, the CIA decided to seek authorization to clandestinely detain Abu Zubaydah at a
facility in Country l—a country that had not previously been considered as a potential host for a
CIA detention site. A senior CIA officer indicated that the CIA “will have to acknowledge
certain gaps in our planning/preparations,”?® but stated that this plan would be presented to the
president. At a Presidential Daily Briefing session that day, the president approved CIA’s
proposal to detain Abu Zubaydah in Country .

The CIA lacked a plan for the eventual disposition of its detainees. After taking custody of Abu
Zubaydah, CIA officers concluded that he “should remain incommunicado for the remainder of
his life,” which “may preclude [Abu Zubaydah) from being turned over to another country.”?’

The CIA did not review its past experience with coercive interrogations, or its previous statement
to Congress that “inhumane physical or psychological techniques are counterproductive because
they do not produce intelligence and will probably result in false answers.”*® The CIA also did
not contact other elements of the U.S. Government with interrogation expertise.

In July 2002, on the basis of consultations with contract psychologists, and with very limited
internal deliberation, the CIA requested approval from the Department of Justice to use a set of
coercive interrogation techniques. The techniques were adapted from the training of U.S.
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military personnel at the U.S. Air Force Survival, Evasion, Resistance and Escape (SERE)
school, which was designed to prepare U.S. military personnel for the conditions and treatment
to which they might be subjected if taken prisoner by countries that do not adhere to the Geneva
Conventions.

As it began detention and interrogation operations, the CIA deployed personnel who lacked
relevant training and experience. The CIA began interrogation training more than seven months
after taking custody of Abu Zubaydah, and more than three months after the CIA began using its
“enhanced interrogation techniques.” CIA Director George Tenet issued formal guidelines for
interrogations and conditions of confinement at detention sites in January 2003, by which time
40 of the 119 known detainees had been detained by the CIA.

#12: The CIA’s management and operation of its Detention and Interrogation Program
was deeply flawed throughout the program’s duration, particularly so in 2002 and early
2003.

The CIA’s COBALT detention facility in Country I began operations in September 2002 and
ultimately housed more than half of the 119 CIA detainees identified in this Study. The CIA
kept few formal records of the detainees in its custody at COBALT. Untrained CIA officers at
the facility conducted frequent, unauthorized, and unsupervised interrogations of detainees using
harsh physical interrogation techniques that were not—and never became—part of the CIA’s
formal “enhanced” interrogation program. The CIA placed a junior officer with no relevant
experience in charge of COBALT. On November i, 2002, a detainee who had been held
partially nude and chained to a concrete floor died from suspected hypothermia at the facility.
At the time, no single unit at CIA Headquarters had clear responsibility for CIA detention and
interrogation operations. In interviews conducted in 2003 with the Office of Inspector General,
CIA’s leadership and senior attorneys acknowledged that they had little or no awareness of
operations at COBALT, and some believed that enhanced interrogation techniques were not used
there.

Although CIA Director Tenet in January 2003 issued guidance for detention and interrogation
activities, serious management problems persisted. For example, in December 2003, CIA
personnel reported that they had made the *“unsettling discovery” that the CIA had been “holding
a number of detainees about whom” the CIA knew “very little” at multiple detention sites in
Country [} *°

Divergent lines of authority for interrogation activities persisted through at least 2003. Tensions
among interrogators extended to complaints about the safety and effectiveness of each other’s
interrogation practices.

The CIA placed individuals with no applicable experience or training in senior detention and
interrogation roles, and provided inadequate linguistic and analytical support to conduct effective
questioning of CIA detainees, resulting in diminished intelligence. The lack of CIA personnel
available to question detainees, which the CIA inspector general referred to as “an ongoing
problem,”*° persisted throughout the program.
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In 2005, the chief of the CIA’s BLACK detention site, where many of the detainees the CIA
assessed as “high-value” were held, complained that CIA Headquarters “managers seem to be
selecting either problem, underperforming officers, new, totally inexperienced officers or
whomever seems to be willing and able to deploy at any given time,” resulting in “the production
of mediocre or, I dare say, useless intelligence....””!

Numerous CIA officers had serious documented personal and professional problems—including
histories of violence and records of abusive treatment of others—that should have called into
question their suitability to participate in the CIA’s Detention and Interrogation Program, their
employment with the CIA, and their continued access to classified information. In nearly all
cases, these problems were known to the CIA prior to the assignment of these officers to
detention and interrogation positions.

#13: Two contract psychologists devised the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques and
played a central role in the operation, assessments, and management of the CIA’s
Detention and Interrogation Program. By 2005, the CIA had overwhelmingly outsourced
operations related to the program.

The CIA contracted with two psychologists to develop, operate, and assess its interrogation
operations. The psychologists’ prior experience was at the U.S. Air Force Survival, Evasion,
Resistance and Escape (SERE) school. Neither psychologist had any experience as an
interrogator, nor did either have specialized knowledge of al-Qa’ida, a background in
counterterrorism, or any relevant cultural or linguistic expertise.

On the CIA’s behalf, the contract psychologists developed theories of interrogation based on
“learned helplessness,”? and developed the list of enhanced interrogation techniques that was
approved for use against Abu Zubaydah and subsequent CIA detainees. The psychologists
personally conducted interrogations of some of the CIA’s most significant detainees using these
techniques. They also evaluated whether detainees’ psychological state allowed for the
continued use of the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques, including some detainees whom
they were themselves interrogating or had interrogated. The psychologists carried out inherently
governmental functions, such as acting as liaison between the CIA and foreign intelligence
services, assessing the effectiveness of the interrogation program, and participating in the
interrogation of detainees in held in foreign government custody.

In 2005, the psychologists formed a company specifically for the purpose of conducting their
work with the CIA. Shortly thereafter, the CIA outsourced virtually all aspects of the program.

In 2006, the value of the CIA’s base contract with the company formed by the psychologists with
all options exercised was in excess of $180 million; the contractors received $81 million prior to
the contract’s termination in 2009. In 2007, the CIA provided a multi-year indemnification
agreement to protect the company and its employees from legal liability arising out of the
program. The CIA has since paid out more than $1 million pursuant to the agreement.
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In 2008, the CIA’s Rendition, Detention, and Interrogation Group, the lead unit for detention and
interrogation operations at the CIA, had a total of positions, which were filled with . CIA
staff officers and - contractors, meaning that contractors made up 85% of the workforce for
detention and interrogation operations.

#14: CIA detainees were subjected to coercive interrogation techniques that had not been
approved by the Department of Justice or had not been authorized by CIA Headquarters.

Prior to mid-2004, the CIA routinely subjected detainees to nudity and dietary manipulation.
The CIA also used abdominal slaps and cold water dousing on several detainees during that
period. None of these techniques had been approved by the Department of Justice.

At least 17 detainees were subjected to CIA enhanced interrogation techniques without
authorization from CIA Headquarters. Additionally, multiple detainees were subjected to
techniques that were applied in ways that diverged from the specific authorization, or were
subjected to enhanced interrogation techniques by interrogators who had not been authorized to
use them. Although these incidents were recorded in CIA cables and, in at least some cases were
identified at the time by supervisors at CIA Headquarters as being inappropriate, corrective
action was rarely taken against the interrogators involved.

#15: The CIA did not conduct a comprehensive or accurate accounting of the number of
individuals it detained, and held individuals who did not meet the legal standard for
detention. The CIA’s claims about the number of detainees held and subjected to its
enhanced interrogation techniques were inaccurate.

The CIA never conducted a comprehensive audit or developed a complete and accurate list of the
individuals it had detained or subjected to its enhanced interrogation techniques. CIA statements
to the Committee and later to the public that the CIA detained fewer than 100 individuals, and
that less than a third of those 100 detainees were subjected to the CIA’s enhanced interrogation
techniques, were inaccurate. The Committee’s review of CIA records determined that the CIA
detained at least 119 individuals, of whom at least 39 were subjected to the CIA’s enhanced
interrogation techniques.

Of the 119 known detainees, at least 26 were wrongfully held and did not meet the detention
standard in the September 2001 Memorandum of Notification (MON). These included an
“intellectually challenged” man whose CIA detention was used solely as leverage to get a family
member to provide information, two individuals who were intelligence sources for foreign
liaison services and were former CIA sources, and two individuals whom the CIA assessed to be
connected to al-Qa’ida based solely on information fabricated by a CIA detainee subjected to the
CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques. Detainees often remained in custody for months after
the CIA determined that they did not meet the MON standard. CIA records provide insufficient
information to justify the detention of many other detainees.
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CIA Headquarters instructed that at least four CIA detainees be placed in host country detention
facilities because the individuals did not meet the MON standard for CIA detention. The host
country had no independent reason to hold the detainees.

A full accounting of CIA detentions and interrogations may be impossible, as records in some
cases are non-existent, and, in many other cases, are sparse and insufficient. There were almost
no detailed records of the detentions and interrogations at the CIA’s COBALT detention facility
in 2002, and almost no such records for the CIA’s GRAY detention site, also in Country [} At
CIA detention facilities outside of Country . the CIA kept increasingly less-detailed records of
its interrogation activities over the course of the CIA’s Detention and Interrogation Program.

#16: The CIA failed to adequately evaluate the effectiveness of its enhanced interrogation
techniques.

The CIA never conducted a credible, comprehensive analysis of the effectiveness of its enhanced
interrogation techniques, despite a recommendation by the CIA inspector general and similar
requests by the national security advisor and the leadership of the Senate Select Committee on
Intelligence.

Internal assessments of the CIA’s Detention and Interrogation Program were conducted by CIA
personnel who participated in the development and management of the program, as well as by
CIA contractors who had a financial interest in its continuation and expansion. An “informal
operational assessment” of the program, led by two senior CIA officers who were not part of the
CIA’s Counterterrorism Center, determined that it would not be possible to assess the
effectiveness of the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques without violating *“Federal Policy
for the Protection of Human Subjects” regarding human experimentation. The CIA officers,
whose review relied on briefings with CIA officers and contractors running the program,
concluded only that the “CIA Detainee Program™ was a ‘“‘success” without addressing the
effectiveness of the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques.

In 2005, in response to the recommendation by the inspector general for a review of the
effectiveness of each of the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques, the CIA asked two
individuals not employed by the CIA to conduct a broader review of “the entirety of” the
“rendition, detention and interrogation program.”* According to one individual, the review was
“heavily reliant on the willingness of [CIA Counterterrorism Center] staff to provide us with the
factual material that forms the basis of our conclusions.” That individual acknowledged lacking
the requisite expertise to review the effectiveness of the CIA’s enhanced interrogation
techniques, and concluded only that “the program,” meaning all CIA detainee reporting
regardless of whether it was connected to the use of the CIA’s enhanced interrogation
techniques, was a *“great success.”* The second reviewer concluded that “there is no objective
way to answer the question of efficacy” of the techniques.*

There are no CIA records to indicate that any of the reviews independently validated the
“effectiveness” claims presented by the CIA, to include basic confirmation that the intelligence
cited by the CIA was acquired from CIA detainees during or after the use of the CIA’s enhanced
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interrogation techniques. Nor did the reviews seek to confirm whether the intelligence cited by
the CIA as being obtained ‘““as a result” of the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques was
unique and “otherwise unavailable,” as claimed by the CIA, and not previously obtained from
other sources.

#17: The CIA rarely reprimanded or held personnel accountable for serious and
significant violations, inappropriate activities, and systemic and individual management

failures. j

CIA officers and CIA contractors who were found to have violated CIA policies or performed
poorly were rarely held accountable or removed from positions of responsibility.

Significant events, to include the death and injury of CIA detainees, the detention of individuals
who did not meet the legal standard to be held, the use of unauthorized interrogation techniques
against CIA detainees, and the provision of inaccurate information on the CIA program did not
result in appropriate, effective, or in many cascs, any corrective actions. CIA managers who
were aware of failings and shortcomings in the program but did not intervene, or who failed to

provide proper leadership and management, were also not held to account.

On two occasions in which the CIA inspector general identified wrongdoing, accountability
recommendations were overruled by senior CIA leadership. In one instance, involving the death
of a CIA detainee at COBALT, CIA Headquarters decided not to take disciplinary action against
an officer involved because, at the time, CIA Headquarters had been “motivated to extract any
and all operational information” from the detainee.*” In another instance related to a wrongful
detention, no action was taken against a CIA officer because, “[t]he Director strongly believes
that mistakes should be expected in a business filled with uncertainty,” and “the Director
believes the scale tips decisively in favor of accepting mistakes that over connect the dots against
those that under connect them.”*® In neither case was administrative action taken against CIA
management personnel.

#18: The CIA marginalized and ignored numerous internal critiques, criticisms, and
objections concerning the operation and management of the CIA’s Detention and
Interrogation Program.

Critiques, criticisms, and objections were expressed by numerous CIA officers, including senior
personnel overseeing and managing the program, as well as analysts, interrogators, and medical
officers involved in or supporting CIA detention and interrogation operations.

Examples of these concerns include CIA officers questioning the effectiveness of the CIA’s
enhanced interrogation techniques, interrogators disagreeing with the use of such techniques
against detainees whom they determined were not withholding information, psychologists
recommending less isolated conditions, and Office of Medical Services personnel questioning
both the effectiveness and safety of the techniques. These concerns were regularly overridden by
CIA management, and the CIA made few corrective changes to its policies governing the
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program. At times, CIA officers were instructed by supervisors not to put their concerns or
observations in written communications.

In several instances, CIA officers identified inaccuracies in CIA representations about the
program and its effectiveness to the Office of Inspector General, the White House, the
Department of Justice, the Congress, and the American public. The CIA nonetheless failed to
take action to correct these representations, and allowed inaccurate information to remain as the
CIA’s official position.

The CIA was also resistant to, and highly critical of more formal critiques. The deputy director
for operations stated that the CIA inspector general’s draft Special Review should have come to
the “conclusion that our efforts have thwarted attacks and saved lives,”*® while the CIA general
counsel accused the inspector general of presenting *“‘an imbalanced and inaccurate picture” of
the program.** A February 2007 report from the International Committee of the Red Cross
(ICRC), which the CIA acting general counsel initially stated “actually does not sound that far
removed from the reality,”! was also criticized. CIA officers prepared documents indicating
that “critical portions of the Report are patently false or misleading, especially certain key factual
claims....”*? CIA Director Hayden testified to the Committee that “numerous false allegations of
physical and threatened abuse and faulty legal assumptions and analysis in the [ICRC] report
undermine its overall credibility.”*?

#19: The CIA’s Detention and Interrogation Program was inherently unsustainable and
had effectively ended by 2006 due to unauthorized press disclosures, reduced cooperation
from other nations, and legal and oversight concerns.

The CIA required secrecy and cooperation from other nations in order to operate clandestine
detention facilities, and both had eroded significantly before President Bush publicly disclosed
the program on September 6, 2006. From the beginning of the program, the CIA faced
significant challenges in finding nations willing to host CIA clandestine detention sites. These
challenges became increasingly difficult over time. With the exception of Country ., the CIA
was forced to relocate detainees out of every country in which it established a detention facility
because of pressure from the host government or public revelations about the program.
Beginning in early 2005, the CIA sought unsuccessfully to convince the U.S. Department of
Defense to allow the transfer of numerous CIA detainees to U.S. military custody. By 2006, the
CIA admitted in its own talking points for CIA Director Porter Goss that, absent an
Administration decision on an “endgame” for detainees, the CIA was “stymied” and “the
program could collapse of its own weight.”**

Lack of access to adequate medical care for detainees in countries hosting the CIA’s detention
facilities caused recurring problems. The refusal of one host country to admit a severely ill
detainee into a local hospital due to security concerns contributed to the closing of the CIA’s
detention facility in that country. The U.S. Department of Defense also declined to provide
medical care to detainees upon CIA request.
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In mid-2003, a statement by the president for the United Nations International Day in Support of
Victims of Torture and a public statement by the White House that prisoners in U.S. custody are
treated “humanely” caused the CIA to question whether there was continued policy support for
the program and seek reauthorization from the White House. In mid-2004, the CIA temporarily
suspended the use of its enhanced interrogation techniques after the CIA inspector general
recommended that the CIA seck an updated legal opinion from the Office of Legal Counsel. In
early 2004, the U.S. Supreme Court decision to grant certiorari in the case of Rasul v. Bush
prompted the CIA to move detainees out of a CIA detention facility at Guantanamo Bay, Cuba.
In late 2005 and in 2006, the Detainee Treatment Act and then the U.S. Supreme Court decision
in Hamdan v. Rumsfeld caused the CIA to again temporarily suspend the use of its enhanced
interrogation techniques.

By 2006, press disclosures, the unwillingness of other countries to host existing or new detention
sites, and legal and oversight concerns had largely ended the CIA’s ability to operate clandestine
detention facilities.

After detaining at least 113 individuals through 2004, the CIA brought only six additional
detainees into its custody: four in 2005, one in 2006, and one in 2007. By March 2006, the
program was operating in only one country. The CIA last used its enhanced interrogation
techniques on November 8, 2007. The CIA did not hold any detainees after April 2008.

#20: The CIA’s Detention and Interrogation Program damaged the United States’
standing in the world, and resulted in other significant monetary and non-monetary costs.

The CIA’s Detention and Interrogation Program created tensions with U.S. partners and allies,
leading to formal demarches to the United States, and damaging and complicating bilateral
intelligence relationships.

In one example, in June 2004, the secretary of state ordered the U.S. ambassador in Country l to
deliver a demarche to Coun , *“in essence demanding [Country l Government] provide full
access to all [Country l ] detainees™ to the International Committee of the Red
Cross. At the time, however, the detainees Country l was holding included detainees being held
in secret at the CIA’s behest.*

More broadly, the program caused immeasurable damage to the United States’ public standing,
as well as to the United States’ longstanding global leadership on human rights in general and the
prevention of torture in particular.

CIA records indicate that the CIA’s Detention and Interrogation Program cost well over $300
million in non-personnel costs. This included funding for the CIA to construct and maintain
detention facilities, including two facilities costing nearly $. million that were never used, in
part due to host country political concerns.

To encourage governments to clandestinely host CIA detention sites, or to increase support for
existing sites, the CIA provided millions of dollars in cash payments to foreign government
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officials. CIA Headquarters encouraged CIA Stations to construct “wish lists” of proposed
financial assistance to: ‘[entities of foreign governments], and to
“think big” in terms of that assistance.*®
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' As measured by the number of disseminated intelligence reports. Therefore, zero intelligence reports were
disseminated based on information provided by seven of the 39 detainees known to have been subjected to the
CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques.

* May 30, 2005, Memorandum for John A. Rizzo, Senior Deputy General Counsel, Central Intelligence Agency,
from Steven G. Bradbury, Principal Deputy Assistant Attorney General, Office of Legal Counsel, Department of
Justice, re: Application of United States Obligations Under Article 16 of the Convention Against Torture to Certain
Techniques that May Be Used in the Interrogation of High Value al Qaeda Detainees.

3 Transcript of Senate Select Committee on Intelligence briefing, September 6, 2006.

* This episode was not described in CIA cables, but was described in internal emails sent by personnel in the CIA
Oftfice of Medical Services and the CIA Office of General Counsel. A review of the videotapes of the interrogations
of Abu Zubaydah by the CIA Office of Inspector General (OIG) did not note the incident. A review of the catalog
of videotapes, however, found that recordings of a 21-hour period, which included two waterboarding sessions, were
missing.

5 April 10, 2003, email from _; to _; cc: _; re More.
Throughout the Committee Study, last names in all capitalized letters are pseudonyms.

s ALEC [ (182321Z JUL 02)

7 At the time, confining a detainee in a box with the dimensions of a coffin was an approved CIA enhanced
interrogation technique.

¥ [REDACTED] 1324 (161750Z SEP 03), referring to Hambali.

9 Interview of * by [REDACTED] and [REDACTED], Office of the Inspector General, June 17,
2003

1% In one case, interrogators informed a detainee that he could earn a bucket if he cooperated.

! Interview Report, 2003-7123-IG, Review of Interrogations for Counterterrorism Purposes, _ April 7,
2003, p. 12.

2 Interview Report, 2003-7123-IG, Review of Interrogations for Counterterrorism Purposes, ||| N N N ]JJEER My 8.
2003, p. 9.

13 November 26, 2001, Draft of Legal Appendix, Paragraph 5, “Hostile Interrogations: Legal Considerations for CIA
Officers,” at 1.

' May 30, 2005, Memorandum for John A. Rizzo, Senior Deputy General Counsel, Central Intelligence Agency,
from Steven G. Bradbury, Principal Deputy Assistant Attorney General, Office of Legal Counsel, Department of
Justice, re: Application of United States Obligations Under Article 16 of the Convention Against Torture to Certain
Techniques that May Be Used in the Interrogation of High Value al Qaeda Detainees. July 20, 2007, Memorandum
for John A. Rizzo, Acting General Counsel, Central Intelligence Agency, from Steven G. Bradbury, Principal
Deputy Assistant Attorney General, Office of Legal Counsel, Department of Justice, re: Application of War Crimes
Act, the Detainee Treatment Act, and Common Article 3 of the Geneva Conventions to Certain Techniques that May
be Used by the CIA in the Interrogation of High Value al Qaeda Detainees.

'3 The CIA’s June 27, 2013, Response to the Committee Study of the CIA’s Detention and Interrogation Program
states that these limitations were dictated by the White House. The CIA’s June 2013 Response then acknowledges
that the CIA was “comfortable” with this decision.

16 DIRECTOR [ (1522272 MAR 07)

17 The Committee’s conclusion is based on CIA records, including statements from CIA Directors George Tenet and
Porter Goss to the CIA inspector general, that the directors had not briefed the president on the CIA’s interrogation
program. According to CIA records, when briefed in April 2006, the president expressed discomfort with the
“image of a detainee, chained to the ceiling, clothed in a diaper, and forced to go to the bathroom on himself.” The
CIA’s June 2013 Response does not dispute the CIA records, but states that “[wlhile Agency records on the subject
are admittedly incomplete, former President Bush has stated in his autobiography that he discussed the program,
including the use of enhanced techniques, with then-DCIA Tenet in 2002, prior to application of the techniques on
Abu Zubaydah, and personally approved the techniques.” A memoir by former Acting CIA General Counsel John
Rizzo disputes this account.

'8 CIA records indicate that the CIA had not informed policymakers of the presence of CIA detention facilities in
Countries [l [l land | 1tis less clear whether policymakers were aware of the detention facilities in Country [}
and at Guantanamo Bay, Cuba. The CIA requested that country names and information directly or indirectly
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identifying countries be redacted. The Study therefore lists the countries by letter. The Study uses the same
designations consistently, so “Country J,” for example, refers to the same country throughout the Study.
19 July 31, 2003, email from John Rizzo to * re Rump PC on interrogations.

20 | otus Notes message from Chief of the CIA Station in Country Jjj to D/CTC, COPS; copied in: email from
rgto [REDACTED], [REDACTED], cc: [REDACTED], d I N

subj: ADCI Talking Points for Call to DepSec Armitage, date 9/23/2004, at 7:40:43 PM
2! Briefing slides, CIA Interrogation Program, July 29, 2003
22 No CIA detention facilities were established in these two countries.
2 U.S. law (22 U.S.C. § 3927) requires that chiefs of mission “shall be kept fully and currently informed with
respect to all activities and operations of the Government within that country,” including the activities and
operations of the CIA.
24 Sametime communication, between John P. Mudd and
23 Sametime communication, between John P. Mudd and
26 March 29, 2002, email from 10
7 ALEC [ (1823212 JUL 02)
28 January 8, 1989, Letter from John L. Helgerson, Director of Congressional Affairs, to Vice Chairman William S.
Cohen, Senate Select Committee on Intelligence, re: SSCI Questions on , at 7-8.
¥ [REDACTED] 1528 (191903Z DEC 03)
30 Report of Audit, CIA-controlled Detention Facilities Operated Under the 17 September 2001 Memorandum of
Notification, Report No. 2005-0017-AS, June 14, 2006.
3t April 15, 2005, email from [REDACTED] (Chief of Base of DETENTION SITE BLACK), to || I

) , re General Comments.

32 “Learned helplessness in this context was the theory that detainees might become passive and depressed in
response to adverse or uncontrollable events, and would thus cooperate and provide information. Memo from
Grayson SWIGERT, Ph.D., February 1, 2003, “Qualifications to provide special mission interrogation consultation.”
33 They also concluded that the CIA “should not be in the business of running prisons or ‘temporary detention
facilities.”” May 12, 2004, Memorandum for Deputy Director for Operations from ﬂ, Chief,
Information Operations Center, and Henry Crumpton, Chief, National Resources Division via Associate Deputy
Director for Operations, with the subject line, “Operational Review of CIA Detainee Program.”
3 March 21, 2005, Memorandum for Deputy Director for Operations from Robert L. Grenier, Director DCI
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Inyestigation (FBI) who spoke Arabic and had experience interrogating members of al-Qa’ida.
Abu Zubaydah confirmed his identity to the FBI officers, informed the FBI officers he wanted to
cooperate, and provided background information on his activities. That evening, Abu
Zubaydah’s medical condition deteriorated rapidly and he required immediate hospitalization.
Although Abu Zubaydah was largely unable to communicate because of a breathing tube, he
continued to provide information to FBI and CIA officials at the hospital using an Arabic
alphabet chart. According to records, the FBI officers remained at Abu Zubaydah’s bedside
throughout this ordeal and assisted in his medical care. When Abu Zubaydah’s breathing tube
was removed on April 8, 2002, Abu Zubaydah provided additional intelligence and reiterated his
intention to cooperate.®

($Sl_4N-F—) During an April 10, 2002, debriefing session, conducted in the

hospital’s intensive care unit, Abu Zubaydah revealed to the FBI officers that an individual
named “Mukhtar” was the al-Qa’ida “mastermind” of the 9/11 attacks. Abu Zubaydah identified
a picture of Mukhtar provided by the FBI from the FBI’s Most Wanted list. The picture was of
Khalid Shaykh Mohammad (KSM), who had been indicted in 1996 for his role in Ramzi
Yousef’s terrorist plotting to detonate explosives on 12 United States-flagged aircraft and destroy
them mid-flight over the Pacific Ocean.?” Abu Zubaydah told the interrogators that “Mukhtar”
was related to Ramzi Yousef, whom Abu Zubaydah said was in an American jail (Yousef had
been convicted for the aforementioned terrorist plotting and was involved in the 1993 World
Trade Center terrorist attack).®

@s/JIEEE/~*%) Abu Zubaydah told the FBI officers that “Mukhtar” trained the

9/11 hijackers and also provided additional information on KSM’s background, to include that
KSM spoke fluent English, was approximately 34 years old, and was responsible for al-Qa’ida
operations outside of Afghanistan.?® Subsequent representations on the success of the CIA’s
Detention and Interrogation Program consistently describe Abu Zubaydah’s identification of
KSM’s role in the September 11, 2001, attacks, as well as his identification of KSM’s alias
(“Mukhtar”), as being “important” and “vital” information.”® A review of CIA records found
that this information was corroborative of information already in CIA databases.”!

5. While Abu Zubaydah is Hospitalized, CIA Headquarters Discusses the Use of Coercive
Interrogation Techniques Against Abu Zubaydah

ss | 10005 (092316Z APR 02). See Abu Zubaydah detainee review in Volume III for additional
information.

87 See United States Court of Aiieals, Auiust Term, 2001, U.S. v Ramzi Ahmed Yousef, and DIRECTOR |

JAN 02). See also 1A MAR 02).

88 10022 (121216Z APR 02). CIA records include the variant spelling, “Muhktar.” KSM was placed on
the FBI's public “Most Wanted Terrorist” list on October 10, 2001. See also U.S. Department of Justice materials
related to Ramzi Ahmed Yousef.

8 10022 (1212162 APR 02); I 18334 (261703Z MAR 02)

% See, for example, President Bush’s September 6, 2006, speech, based on CIA information and vetted by the CIA,
which stated that Abu Zubaydah provided “quite important” information and “disclosed Khalid Sheikh Mohammed,
or KSM, was the mastermind behind the 9/11 attacks and used the alias Mukhtar. This was a vital piece of the
puzzle that helped our intelligence community pursue KSM.”

9! See information later in this summary and Volume II for additional details.
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s/~ F) While Abu Zubaydah was still hospitalized, personnel at CIA

Headquarters began discussing how CIA officers would interrogate Abu Zubaydah upon his
return to DETENTION SITE GREEN. The initial CIA interrogation proposal recommended that
the interrogators engage with Abu Zubaydah to get him to provide information, and suggested
that a “hard approach,” involving foreign government personnel, be taken “only as a last
resort.”®? At a meeting about this proposal, iCTC Legal, *
recommended that a psychologist working on contract in the CIA’s Office of Technical Services
(OTS), Grayson SWIGERT, be used by CTC to “provide real-time recommendations to
overcome Abu Zubaydah’s resistance to interrogation.”> SWIGERT had come to || || NN
attention through _, who worked in OTS. Shortly thereafter, CIA
Headquarters formally proposed that Abu Zubaydah be kept in an all-white room that was lit 24
hours a day, that Abu Zubaydah not be provided any amenities, that his sleep be disrupted, that
loud noise be constantly fed into his cell, and that only a small number of people interact with
him. CIA records indicate that these proposals were based on the idea that such conditions
would lead Abu Zubaydah to develop a sense of “learned helplessness.”® CIA Headquarters

then sent an interrogation team to Country l including SWIGERT, whose initial role was to
consult on the psychological aspects of the interrogation.”

(M) DCI Tenet was provided an update on the Abu Zubaydah

interrogation plans on April 12, 2002. The update stated that the CIA team was preparing for
Abu Zubaydah’s transfer back to DETENTION SITE GREEN, and noted the CIA interrogation
team intended to “set the stage” and increase control over Abu Zubaydah.”® The update stated:

“Our [CIA] lead interrogator will require Abu Zubaydah to reveal the most
sensitive secret he knows we are seeking; if he dissembles or diverts the
conversation, the interview will stop and resume at a later time.... In
accordance with the strategy, and with concurrence from FBI Headquarters,
the two on-site FBI agents will no longer directly participate in the
interview/debriefing sessions.””’

%2 Attachment to email from: [REDACTED] [REDACTED]; to: _; subject: Interrogation
Strategy, Powerpoint on — [Abu Zubaydah] Interrogation Strategy, 01 April 2002; date: March
31, 2002.
% Email from [REDACTED] to [REDACTED], cc: [N EEEEEE. A il 1, 2002, re: POC for [Grayson
SWIGERT]- consultant who drafted al-Qa’ida resistance to interrogation backgrounder (noting that CTC/LGL
would reach out to SWIGERT). According to the email, after the meeting, hCTC Legal, R

, provided SWIGERT’s contact information to ALEC Station officers, noting that it was SWIGERT
who composed an OTS assessment on al-Qa’ida resistance techniques.
% On the evening of April 1, 2002, “at the request of CTC/OPS and ALEC” Station, a cable from OTS with a
proposed interrogation strategy was sent to Country [Jj (_ 178955 (012236Z APR 02). The information in
this cable was consistent with a subsequent cable, which was coordinated with SWIGERT, that proposed “several
environmental modifications to create an atmosphere that enhances the strategic interrogation process.” The cable
noted, “(t]he deliberate manipulation of the environment is intended to cause psychological disorientation, and
reduced psychological wherewithal for the interrogation,” as well as “the deliberate establishment of psychological
dependence upon the interrogator,” and “an increased sense of learned helplessness.” (See [REDACTED] 69500
(070009Z APR 02).) For detailed information, see Volume I and the Abu Zubaydah detainee review in Volume IIL
95 DIRECTOR [N I A PR 02)
% CIA Sensitive Addendum “Update on the Abu Zubaydah Operation,” dated 12 April 2002, “1630 Hours.”

97 CIA Sensitive Addendum “Update on the Abu Zubaidah Oieration,” dated 12 April 2002, “1630 Hours.”
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($Sﬁ_#N-F-) The FBI special agents questioning Abu Zubaydah at the hospital

objected to the CIA’s plans. In a message to FBI Headquarters, an FBI special agent wrote that
the CIA psychologists had acquired “tremendous influence.”® The message further stated:

“AZ’s health has improved over the last two days and Agency [CIA] is ready
to move [Abu Zubaydah] out of the hospital and back tog_on

in an elaborate plan to change AZ’s environment. Agency [CIA]
advised this day that they will be immediately changing tactics in all future AZ
interviews by having only there [sic] [CIA officer] interact with AZ (there will
be no FBI presence in interview room). This change contradicts all
conversations had to date.... They believe AZ is offering, ‘throw away
information’ and holding back from providing threat information (It should be
note [sic] that we have obtained critical information regarding AZ thus far and
have now got him speaking about threat information, albeit from his hospital
bed and not [an] appropriate interview environment for full follow-up (due to
his health). Suddenly the psychiatric team here wants AZ to only interact with
their [CIA officer, and the CIA sees this] as being the best way to get the threat
information.... We offered several compromise solutions... all suggestions
were immediately declined without further discussion. ...This again is quite
odd as all information obtained from AZ has come from FBI lead interviewers
and questioning.... I have spent an un-calculable amount of hours at [Abu
Zubaydah’s] bedside assisting with medical help, holding his hand and
comforting him through various medical procedures, even assisting him in
going [to] the bathroom.... We have built tremendous report [sic] with AZ and
now that we are on the eve of ‘regular’ interviews to get threat information, we
have been ‘written out’ of future interviews.””

6. New CIA Interrogation Plan Focuses on Abu Zubaydah’s “Most Important Secret”; FBI
Temporarily Barred from the Questioning of Abu Zubaydah; Abu Zubaydah then Placed
in Isolation for 47 Days Without Questioning

&S/ ~%) On April 13, 2002, while Abu Zubaydah was still at the hospital,

the CIA implemented the “new interrogation program.”'® This initial meeting was held with
just one interrogator in the room and lasted 11 minutes. A cable stated that the CIA interrogator
was coached by the “psychological team.”!" The CIA interrogator advised Abu Zubaydah that
he (Abu Zubaydah) “had a most important sccret that [the interrogator] needed to know.”
According to the cable, Abu Zubaydah “amazingly” nodded in agreement about the secret, but

98 Federal Bureau of Investigation documents pertaining “to the interrogation of detainee Zayn Al Abideen Abu
Zabaidah” and provided to the Senate Select Committee on Intelligence by cover letter dated July 20, 2010 (DTS
#2010-2939).

% Federal Bureau of Investigation documents pertaining “to the interrogation of detainee Zayn Al Abideen Abu
Zabaidah” and provided to the Senate Select Committee on Intelligence by cover letter dated July 20, 2010 (DTS
#2010-2939).

100 10026 (131233Z APR 02)
101 10026 (131233Z APR 02)
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@s/J 2 %) CIA records indicate that the first CIA briefing for the president on

the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques occurred on April 8, 2006.'7 CIA records state that
when the president was briefed, he expressed discomfort with the “image of a detainee, chained
to the ceiling, clothed in a diaper, and forced to go to the bathroom on himself.”'%°

9. The CIA Uses the Waterboard and Other Enhanced Interrogation Techniques Against
Abu Zubaydah

($SA_J—N-F-) On August 3, 2002, CIA Headquarters informed the interrogation
team at DETENTION SITE GREEN that it had formal approval to apply the CIA’s enhanced
interrogation techniques, including the waterboard, against Abu Zubaydah. According to CIA
records, only the two CIA contractors, SWIGERT and DUNBAR, were to have contact with Abu
Zubaydah. Other CIA personnel at DETENTION SITE GREEN - including CIA medical
personnel and other CIA “interrogators with whom he is familiar” — were only to observe.'®!

@S/ ~¥) From August 4, 2002, through August 23, 2002, the CIA subjected

Abu Zubaydah to its enhanced interrogation techniques on a near 24-hour-per-day basis. After
Abu Zubaydah had been in complete isolation for 47 days, the most aggressive interrogation
phase began at approximately 11:50 AM on August 4, 2002."%? Security personnel entered the
cell, shackled and hooded Abu Zubaydah, and removed his towel (Abu Zubaydah was then
naked). Without asking any questions, the interrogators placed a rolled towel around his neck as
a collar, and backed him up into the cell wall (an interrogator later acknowledged the collar was

This included important, new roles for CIA in detaining and questioning terrorists. [He was periodically updated by
CIA Directors on significant captures of terrorists, and information obtained that helped stop attacks and led to
capture of other terrorists.] [The President was not of course involved in CIA’s day to day operations — including
who should be held by CIA and how they should be questioned — these decisions are made or overseen by CIA
Directors].” See Draft Questions and Proposed Answers, attached to Memorandum from National Security Advisor
Stephen J. Hadley; for: the Vice President, Secretaries of State and Defense, the Attorney General, Director of
National Intelligence and Chairman of the Joint Chiefs of Staff; cc: chief of staff to the President, Counsel to the
President, Assistant to the President for National Security, White House Spokesman, dated September 2, 2006.
Brackets in the original.

1% See April 16, 2008, CIA “Backgrounder: Chronology of Interrogation Approvals, 2001-2003” (noting that “CIA
documentation and discussions with Presidential briefers and individuals involved with the interrogation program at
the time suggest that details on enhanced interrogation techniques (EITs) were not shared with the President” in the
2001-2003 timeframe); CIA Q&A, Topic: Waterboarding (“The information we have indicates the President was not
briefed by CIA regarding the specific interrogation techniques until April 2006, and at that time DCIA Goss briefed
him on the seven EITs proposed at that time for the post-Detainee Treatment Act CIA interrogation program.”). As
described, in the April 2006 briefing the President “expressed discomfort” with the “image of a detainee, chained to
the ceiling, clothed in a diaper, and forced to go to the bathroom on himself.” See email from: Grayson SWIGERT;
to: [REDACTED]; cc: _; subject: Dr. SWIGERT’s 7 June meeting with DCI; date: June 7, 2006.
180 Email from: Grayson SWIGERT; to: [REDACTED]; cc: | INEEEEEE subject: Dr. SWIGERT’s 7 June
meeting with DCI; date: June 7, 2006.

181 Increased Pressure in the Next Phase of the Abu Zubaydah Interrogations, Attachment to email from:
[REDACTED]; to: [REDACTED]; cc: d (REDACTED], | BEEIEEE. (REDACTED],
[REDACTED]; subject: Increased Pressure Phase — for DCI Sensitive Addendum; date: July 10, 2002.

152 N 10586 (041559Z AUG 02)
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used to slam Abu Zubaydah against a concrete wall).'®® The interrogators then removed the
hood, performed an attention grab, and had Abu Zubaydah watch while a large confinement box
was brought into the cell and laid on the floor.'® A cable states Abu Zubaydah *“was unhooded
and the large confinement box was carried into the interrogation room and paced [sic] on the
floor so as to appear as a coffin.”!® The interrogators then demanded detailed and verifiable
information on terrorist operations planned against the United States, including the names, phone
numbers, email addresses, weapon caches, and safe houses of anyone involved. CIA records
describe Abu Zubaydah as appearing apprehensive. Each time Abu Zubaydah denied having
additional information, the interrogators would perform a facial slap or face grab.'8¢ At
approximately 6:20 PM, Abu Zubaydah was waterboarded for the first time. Over a two-and-a-
half-hour period, Abu Zubaydah coughed, vomited, and had “involuntary spasms of the torso and
extremities” during waterboarding.'®” Detention site personnel noted that “throughout the
process [Abu Zubaydah] was asked and given the opportunity to respond to questions about
threats” to the United States, but Abu Zubaydah continued to maintain that he did not have any
additional information to provide.'® In an email to OMS leadership entitled, “So it begins,” a
medical officer wrote:

“The sessions accelerated rapidly progressing quickly to the water board after
large box, walling, and small box periods. [Abu Zubaydah] seems very
resistant to the water board. Longest time with the cloth over his face so far
has been 17 seconds. This is sure to increase shortly. NO useful information

183 See email from: [REDACTEDY]; to: —; subject: Subject detainee allegation — per our telcon of
today; date: March 28, 2007, at 04:42 PM, which states Abu Zubaydah claims “a collar was used to slam him
against a concrete wall. While we do not have a record that this occurred, one interrogator at the site at the time
confirmed that this did indeed happen. For the record, a plywood ‘wall’ was immediately constructed at the site
after the walling on the concrete wall.”

184 10644 (201235Z AUG 02)

185 10586 (041559Z AUG 02)

186 10586 (0415592 AUG 02); | 10644 (2012352 AUG 02)

187 10644 (201235Z AUG 02)

188 10586 (041559Z AUG 02). CIA contractor DUNBAR later told the CIA OIG that “[t)heir

instructions from [chief of Base] were to focus on only one issue, that is, Zubaydah’s knowledge of plans to attack
the U.S.” According to the OIG’s record of the interview, “[DUNBAR] and [SWIGERT] could ask that question in
a number of ways, but it was the only theme they were authorized by [chief of Base] to use with [Abu} Zubaydah.”
(See February 10, 2003, interview report of Hammond DUNBAR, Office of the Inspector General.) The acting
chief of Station in Country l, in an interview with the CIA OIG, stated that “there were days at [DETENTION
SITE GREEN] when the team had no requirements from Headquarters,” and that CTC did not give the chief of Base
(COB) the “flexibility as COB to ask other questions” besides those related to threats to the United States. (See May
28, 2003, interview report of *, Office of the Inspector General.) The chief of Support
Services at the CIA Station stated that “{SWIGERT] and [DUNBAR] were frustrated that they kept beating

Zubaydah up on the same question while getting the same physiologic response from him.” (See May 21, 2003,
interview report of H Office of the Inspector General.) Other interviewees described how

analytical assumptions about Abu Zubaydah drove the interrogation process. (See May 22, 2003, interview report of
#, Office of the Inspector General; and February 27, 2003, interview report of -

, Office of the Inspector General.) Chief of CTC, Jose Rodriguez, told the OIG that “CTC subject
matter experts” pointed to intelligence that they said indicated that Abu Zubaydah knew more than he was admitting
and thus disagreed with the assessment from DETENTION SITE GREEN that Abu Zubaydah was “compliant.”
According to the OIG’s record of the Jose Rodriguez interview, “disagreement between the analysts and

interrogators can be healthy, but in this case Rodriguez believes that the analysts were wrong.” (See interview of
Jose Rodriguez, Office of the Inspector General, March 6, 2003.)
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so far....He did vomit a couple of times during the water board with some
beans and rice. It’s been 10 hours since he ate so this is surprising and
disturbing. We plan to only feed Ensure for a while now. I’m head[ing] back
for another water board session.”'8?

(5PSA-/-N-F) The use of the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques—

including “walling, attention grasps, slapping, facial hold, stress positions, cramped confinement,
white noise and sleep deprivation”—continued in “varying combinations, 24 hours a day” for 17
straight days, through August 20, 2002.'® When Abu Zubaydah was left alone during this
period, he was placed in a stress position, left on the waterboard with a cloth over his face, or
locked in one of two confinement boxes. According to the cables, Abu Zubaydah was also
subjected to the waterboard “2-4 times a day...with multiple iterations of the watering cycle
during each application.”'"

) The “aggressive phase of interrogation” continued until August 23,
2002."% Over the course of the entire 20 day “aggressive phase of interrogation,” Abu Zubaydah
spent a total of 266 hours (11 days, 2 hours) in the large (coffin size) confinement box and 29
hours in a small confinement box, which had a width of 21 inches, a depth of 2.5 feet, and a
height of 2.5 feet. The CIA interrogators told Abu Zubaydah that the only way he would leave
the facility was in the coffin-shaped confinement box.'%?

(M) According to the daily cables from DETENTION SITE GREEN,
Abu Zubaydah frequently “cried,” “begged,” “pleaded,” and “whimpered,” but continued to

deny that he had any additional information on current threats to, or operatives in, the United
States.!9*

@/ ¥ By August 9, 2002, the sixth day of the interrogation period, the
interrogation team informed CIA Headquarters that they had come to the “collective preliminary
assessment” that it was unlikely Abu Zubaydah “had actionable new information about current
threats to the United States.”'®> On August 10, 2002, the interrogation team stated that it was
“highly unlikely” that Abu Zubaydah possessed the information they were seeking.'® On the
same day, the interrogation team reiterated a request for personnel from CIA Headquarters to

189 Emphasis in the original. Email from: [REDACTED]; to: [} I 2nd [REDACTED]; subject: Re: So
it begins; date: August 4, 2002, at 09:45:09AM. CIA Director Hayden informed the Committee in 2007 that “in the
section [of the ICRC report] on medical care, the report omits key contextual facts. For example, Abu Zubaydah’s
statement that he was given only Ensure and water for two to three weeks fails to mention the fact that he was on a
liquid diet quite appropriate because he was recovering from abdominal surgery at the time.”

190 i 10644 (201235Z AUG 02). For the first 17 days, the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques were
used against Abu Zubaydah in “varying combinations, 24 hours a day.” The “aggressive phase,” as defined by the
CIA, continued for an additional three days. The CIA continued to use its enhanced interrogation techniques against
Abu Zubaydah until August 30, 2002.

191 10644 (201235Z AUG 02)
192 10667 (231206Z AUG 02); I 10672 (240229Z AUG 02)
193 10615 (120619Z AUG 02)
194 10644 (201235Z AUG 02)
195 10604 (091624Z AUG 02)
196 10607 (100335Z AUG 02)
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travel to the detention site to view the interrogations. A cable stated that the team believed that a
“first-hand, on-the-ground look is best,” but if CIA Headquarters personnel could not visit, a
video teleconference would suffice.’””” DETENTION SITE GREEN personnel also informed
CIA Headquarters that it was their assessment that the application of the CIA’s enhanced
interrogation techniques was “approach[ing] the legal limit.”'®® The chief of CTC, Jose
Rodriguez, responded:

“Strongly urge that any speculative language as to the legality of given
activities or, more precisely, judgment calls as to their legality vis-a-vis
operational guidelines for this activity agreed upon and vetted at the most
senior levels of the agency, be refrained from in written traffic (email or cable

traffic). Such language is not helpful.”!*

&S/ ~E) DETENTION SITE GREEN cables describc Abu Zubaydah as
“compliant,” informing CIA Headquarters that when the interrogator “raised his eyebrow,
without instructions,” Abu Zubaydah *“slowly walked on his own to the water table and sat
down.”??® When the interrogator “snapped his fingers twice,” Abu Zubaydah would lic flat on
the waterboard.?®! Despite the assessment of personnel at the detention site that Abu Zubaydah
was compliant, CIA Headquarters stated that they continued to believe that Abu Zubaydah was
withholding threat information and instructed the CIA interrogators to continue using the CIA’s
enhanced interrogation techniques.2%2

&S/ ) At times Abu Zubaydah was described as “hysterical”?® and

“distressed to the level that he was unable to effectively communicate.”?** Waterboarding
sessions “resulted in immediate fluid intake and involuntary leg, chest and arm spasms” and
“hysterical pleas.”?® In at least onc waterboarding session, Abu Zubaydah “became completely

o7 I 10607 (100335Z AUG 02). On August [l 2002, a video-conference between DETENTION SITE
GREEN and CIA Headquarters occurred, which included an interrogation video described by the interrogation team
as “quite graphic” and possibly “disturbing to some viewers.” After the video-conference, CIA Headquarters
instructed DETENTION SITE GREEN to continue the use of the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques against
Abu Zubaydah, but agreed to send two CIA Headquarters officers to the detention site to observe the interrogations
first-hand. On August . 2002, a team from CIA Headquarters, including TC Legal ﬂ
and Deputy Chief of ALEC Station , visited DETENTION SITE GREEN and observed the use

of the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques, mcludmg waterboarding. The ¢ ¢1iilesswe phase of interrogation”

ended JJJl] days after the arrival of the officers from CIA Head uarters. See 10616 (I AuG
02); ALEC aua 02); NN 10643 10667 (231206Z AUG
02); and 10672 (240229Z AUG 02).

10607 (100335Z AUG 02)

199 Email from: Jose Rodriguez; to: [REDACTED)]; subject: [DETENTION SITE GREEN]; date: August 12, 2002,
with attachment of earlier email from: [REDACTED]; to: [REDACTED].

200- 10614 (111633Z AUG 02)

0 10614 (111633Z AUG 02)

22 §ee, for example, ALEC (101728 AUG 02); ALEC [ (130034z AUG 02); ALEC IR
AUG 02); and 10700 (2808202 AUG 02).

203 10644 (201235Z AUG 02)

204 10643 (191518Z AUG 02)

205 10643 (1915182 AUG 02)

AUG 02),
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unresponsive, with bubbles rising through his open, full mouth.”?* According to CIA records,
Abu Zubaydah remained unresponsive until medical intervention, when he regained
consciousness and expelled “copious amounts of liquid.” This experience with the waterboard
was referenced in emails, but was not documented or otherwise noted in CIA cables.?®” When
two CIA Headquarters officers later compared the Abu Zubaydah interrogation videotapes to the
cable record, neither commented on this session. A review of the catalog of videotapes,
however, found that recordings of a 21-hour period, which included two waterboarding sessions,
were missing. 20

@s/JEEN /=) CIA personnel at DETENTION SITE GREEN reported being

disturbed by the use of the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques against Abu Zubaydah.
CIA records include the following reactions and comments by CIA personnel:

e August 5, 2002: *“want to caution [medical officer] that this is almost certainly not a
place he’s ever been before in his medical career...It is visually and psychologically
very uncomfortable.””?%

e August 8, 2002: “Today’s first session...had a profound effect on all staff members
present...it seems the collective opinion that we should not go much
further...everyone seems strong for now but if the group has to continue...we cannot
guarantee how much longer.”?!°

e August 8,2002: “Several on the team profoundly affected...some to the point of
tears and choking up.”?'!

206 The description of the episode stated that “on being righted, he failed to respond until the interrogators gave him
a xyphoid thrust (with our medical folks edging toward the room).” This passage was included in multiple emails,

to include emails from the -OMS, . See email from: ; to: [DETENTION

SITE BLUE] and [REDACTEDY]; subject: Re: Departure; date: March 6, 2003, at 7:11:59 PM; email from: -

, OMS; to: [REDACTED] and [REDACTED]; subject: Re: Acceptable lower ambient temperatures;
date: March 7, 2003, at 8:22 PM; email from: _ OMS; to: [REDACTED] and [REDACTED];
subject: Re: Talking Points for review and comment; date: August 13, 2004, at 10:22 AM; and email from:
*; to: [REDACTED], [REDACTED], [REDACTED], [REDACTED], and [REDACTED]; subject: Re:
Discussion with Dan Levin- AZ; date: October 26, 2004, at 6:09 PM.

207 Eail from: , OMS; to: [REDACTED] and [REDACTED]; subject: Re: Acceptable lower
ambient temperatures; date: March 7, 2003, at 8:22 PM; email from: _ OMS; to: [REDACTED]
and [REDACTEDY]; subject: Re: Talking Points for review and comment; date: August 13, 2004, at 10:22 AM;
email from: —; to: [REDACTED], [REDACTED], [REDACTED], [REDACTED], [REDACTED],
and [REDACTED]; subject: Re: Discussions with Dan Levin — AZ, date: October 26, 2004, at 6:09 PM.

298 CIA Inspector General’s Special Review on Counterterrorism Detention and Interrogation Activities issued on
May 7, 2004.

209 Email from: [REDACTED]; to: |JEElMlMlll :nd (REDACTED]; subject: Re: Monday; date: August 5,
2002, at 05:35AM.

219 Email from: [REDACTED]; to: [REDACTED], |}, -nd [REDACTEDY]; subject: Update; date:
August 8, 2002, at 06:50 AM.

21! Email from: [REDACTED]; to: [REDACTED), M. 2nd (REDACTED]; subject: Update; date:
August 8, 2002, at 06:50 AM.
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e August9,2002: “two, perhaps three [personnel] likely to elect transfer” away from
the detention site if the decision is made to continue with the CIA’s enhanced
interrogation techniques.?'?

e August 11,2002: Viewing the pressures on Abu Zubaydah on video *has produced
strong feelings of futility (and legality) of escalating or even maintaining the
pressure.” Per viewing the tapes, “prepare for something not seen previously.

@/~ E) After the use of the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques

ended, CIA personnel at the detention site concluded that Abu Zubaydah had been truthful and
that he did not possess any new terrorist threat information.?*

(Ills,‘_‘#N-F-) As noted, CIA records indicate that Abu Zubaydah never provided

the information for which the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques were justified and
approved: information on the next terrorist attack and operatives in the United States.
Furthermore, as compared to the period prior to August 2002, the quantity and type of
intelligence produced by Abu Zubaydah remained largely unchanged during and after the August
2002 use of the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques.?!> Nonetheless, CIA Headquarters
informed the National Security Council that the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques used
against Abu Zubaydah were effective and were “producing meaningful results.”?!6 A cable from

9213

212 Email from: [REDACTED]; to: |||} I 2nd (REDACTED]; subject: Re: 9 August Update; date:
August 9, 2002, at 10:44:16 PM.

213 Email from: [REDACTED]; to: || ] JJEEJIEE 2nd [(REDACTEDY]; subject: Greetings; date: August 11, 2002,
at 09:45AM.

214 see, for example, | 10672 (24022972 AUG 02).

215 See Abu Zubaydah detainee review in Volume IIT for details on Abu Zubaydah’s intelligence production. As
noted, Abu Zubaydah was taken into CIA custody on March ., 2002, and was hospitalized until April 15, 2002.
During the months of April and May 2002, which included a period during which Abu Zubaydah was on life support
and unable to speak, the interrogations of Abu Zubaydah produced 95 intelligence reports. Abu Zubaydah spent
much of June 2002 and all of July 2002 in isolation, without being asked any questions. The CIA reinstituted
contact with Abu Zubaydah on August 4, 2002, and immediately began using the CIA’s enhanced interrogation
techniques—including the waterboard. During the months of August and September 2002, Abu Zubaydah produced
91 intelligence reports, four fewer than the first two months of his CIA detention. CIA records indicate that the type
of intelligence Abu Zubaydah provided remained relatively constant prior to and after the use of the CIA’s enhanced
interrogation techniques. According to CIA records, Abu Zubaydah provided information on “al-Qa’ida activities,
plans, capabilities, and relationships,” in addition to information on “its leadership structure, including personalities,
decision-making processes, training, and tactics.” See also CIA paper entitled “Abu Zubaydah,” dated March 2005,

as well as “Abu Zubaydah Bio” document, “Prepared on 9 August 2006.”
216 On August 30, 2002, [ ICTC Legal, * met with NSC Legal Adviser John Bellinger to

discuss Abu Zubaydah’s interrogation. See email from: John Rizzo; to: John Moseman; subject: Meeting with NSC
Legal Adviser; date: August 30, 2002; ALEC - (052227Z SEP 02). In his email documenting the meeting,
_ “noted that we had employed the walling techniques, confinement box, waterboard, along with some of
the other methods which also had been approved by the Attorney General,” and “reported that while the experts at
the site and at Headquarters were still assessing the product of the recent sessions, it did appear that the current
phase was producing meaningful results.” (See email from: John Rizzo; to: John Moseman; subject: Meeting with
NSC Legal Adviser; date: August 30, 2002.) The email did not provide any additional detail on what was described
to Bellinger with respect to either the use of the techniques or the “results” of the interrogation. It is unclear from
CIA records whether the CIA ever informed the NSC Legal Adviser or anyone else at the NSC or the Department of
Justice that Abu Zubaydah failed to provide information about future attacks against the United States or operatives

tasked to commit attacks in the U.S. durini or after the use of the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques.
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DETENTION SITE GREEN, which CIA records indicate was authored by SWIGERT and
DUNBAR, also viewed the interrogation of Abu Zubaydah as a success. The cable
recommended that “the aggressive phase at [DETENTION SITE GREEN] should be used as a
template for future interrogation of high value captives,”?'” not because the CIA’s enhanced
interrogation techniques produced useful information, but rather because their use confirmed that
Abu Zubaydah did not possess the intelligence that CIA Headquarters had assessed Abu
Zubaydah to have. The cable from the detention site stated:

“Our goal was to reach the stage where we have broken any will or ability of
subject to resist or deny providing us information (intelligence) to which he
had access. We additionally sought to bring subject to the point that we
confidently assess that he does not/not possess undisclosed threat information,
or intelligence that could prevent a terrorist event.”””'®

(U) The cable further recommended that psychologists—a likely

reference to contractors SWIGERT and DUNBAR — “familiar with interrogation, exploitation
and resistance to interrogation should shape compliance of high value captives prior to
debriefing by substantive experts.”>!?

(TSA_U-N-F-) From Abu Zubaydah’s capture on March 28, 2002, to his transfer

to Department of Defense custody on September 5, 2006, information provided by Abu
Zubaydah resulted in 766 disseminated intelligence reports.??’ According to CIA documents,
Abu Zubaydah provided information on “al-Qa’ida activities, plans, capabilities, and
relationships,” in addition to information on “its leadership structure, including personalities,
decision-making processes, training, and tactics.”**! As noted, this type of information was
provided by Abu Zubaydah before, during, and after the use of the CIA’s enhanced interrogation
techniques. At no time during or after the use of the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques

According to CIA records, on September 27, 2002, the CIA briefed the chairman and the vice chairman of the
Committee, Senators Graham and Shelby, as well as the Committee staff directors, on Abu Zubaydah’s
interrogation. The CIA’s memorandum of the briefing indicates that the chairman and vice chairman were briefed
on “the enhanced techniques that had been employed,” as well as “the nature and quality of reporting provided by
Abu Zubaydah.” See (DIRECTOR [l (2520182 oCT 02).

21 10644 (201235Z AUG 02)
. 10644 (2012357 AUG 02)
219 10644 (2012352 AUG 02)

20 The Committee uses sole-source intelligence reporting in this summary. While CIA multi-source intelligence
reports are included in the full Committee Study, the focus of the Committee analysis is on sole-source intelligence
reporting, as these reports were deemed to more accurately reflect useful reporting from individual CIA detainees.
As background, multi-source intelligence reports are reports that contain data from multiple detainees. For example,
a common multi-source report would result from the CIA showing a picture of an individual to all CIA detainees at
a specific CIA detention site. A report would be produced regardless if detainees were or were not able to identify
or provide information on the individual. As a specific example, see HEADQUARTERS _ (2022557 JUN
06), which states that from January 1, 2006 — April 30, 2006, information from Hambali was “used in the
dissemination of three intelligence reports, two of which were non-recognitions of Guantanamo Bay detainees,” and
the third of which “detailed [Hambali’s] statement that he knew of no threats or plots to attack any world sporting
events.” Sole-source reports, by contrast, are based on specific information provided by one CIA detainee.

2! CIA paper entitled, “Abu Zubaydah,” dated March 2005. Same information included in an “Abu Zubaydah

Bio” document “Prepared on 9 August 2006.”
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did Abu Zubaydah provide information about operatives in, or future attacks against, the United
States.???

10. A CIA Presidential Daily Brief Provides Inaccurate Information on the Interrogation of
Abu Zubaydah

@S/ ~=) Although CIA personnel at DETENTION SITE GREEN agreed
that Abu Zubaydah was compliant and cooperative, personnel at CIA Headquarters prepared a

Presidential Daily Brief (PDB) in October 2002 that, according to a cable, “accurately reflect[ed]
the collective HQS view of the information provided [by Abu Zubaydah] to date.”??* The
October 2002 PDB stated Abu Zubaydah was still withholding “‘significant threat information,”
including information on operatives in the United States, and that Abu “Zubaydah resisted
providing useful information until becoming more cooperative in early August, probably in the
hope of improving his living conditions.”??* The PDB made no reference to the CIA’s enhanced
interrogation techniques or the counter-assessment from the detention site interrogation team
indicating that Abu Zubaydah was cooperative and not withholding information.?%3

@S/ ~5) CIA documents identified the “key intelligence” acquired from

Abu Zubaydah as information related to suspected terrorists Jose Padilla and Binyam
Mohammad, information on English-speaking al-Qa’ida member Jaffar al-Tayyar, and
information identifying KSM as the mastermind of the September 11, 2001, attacks who used the
alias “Mukhtar.”?2® All of this information was acquired by FBI special agents shortly after Abu
Zubaydah’s capture.??’

($Sl_¢N—F) The CIA has consistently represented that Abu Zubaydah stated

that the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques were necessary to gain his cooperation. For
example, the CIA informed the OLC that:

“As Zubaydah himself explained with respect to enhanced techniques,
‘brothers who are captured and interrogated arc permitted by Allah to provide

23 ALEC (1814392 OCT 02)

24 ALEC (181439Z OCT 02)

25 Among other documents, W 10667 (231206Z AUG 02); I 1 0672 (2402292 AUG 02); and
email from: [REDACTED] ( chief of Base at DETENTION SITE GREEN); to: CIA Headquarters; subject:
“Assessment to Date” of Abu Zubaydah; date: October 6, 2002, at 05:36:46 AM.

226 See “Key Intelligence and Reporting Derived from Abu Zubaydah and KSM,” dated February 2008, updated for
briefings on several dates, including for a 2009 briefing to Director Leon Panetta, as well as the “Effectiveness
Memo" provided to the Department of Justice, testimony provided by CIA Director Michael Hayden, and other
documents discussed in detail in Volume II. For example, see ODNI September 2006 press release stating: “During
initial interrogation, Abu Zubaydah gave some information that he probably viewed as nominal. Some was
important, however, including that Khalid Shaykh Mohammad (KSM) was the 9/11 mastermind and used the
moniker ‘Mukhtar.” This identification allowed us to comb previously collected intelligence for both names,
opening up new leads to this terrorist plotter—leads that eventually resulted in his capture. It was clear to his
interrogators that Abu Zubaydah possessed a great deal of information about al-Qa’ida; however, he soon stopped
all cooperation. Over the ensuing months, the CIA designed a new interrogation program that would be safe,
effective, and legal.”

227 See Abu Zubaydah detainee review in Volume 111 for additional details.

222 See Abu Zubai/dah detainee review in Volume III for additional details.
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9. DCI Tenet Establishes First Guidelines on Detention Conditions and Interrogation;
Formal Consolidation of Program Administration at CIA Headquarters Does Not
Resolve Disagreements Among CIA Personnel

(U) In late January 2003, in response to the death of CIA detainee Gul
Rahman and the use of a gun and a drill in the CIA interrogations of ‘Abd al-Rahim al-Nashiri
(described later in this summary), DCI Tenet signed the first formal interrogation and
confinement guidelines for the program.’® In contrast to proposals from late 2001, when CIA
personnel expected that any detention facility would have to meet U.S. prison standards, the
confinement guidelines signed in January 2003 set forth minimal standards for a detention
facility. The confinement guidelines required only that the facility be sufficient to meet basic
health needs, meaning that even a facility like DETENTION SITE COBALT, in which detainees
were kept shackled in complete darkness and isolation, with a bucket for human waste, and
without notable heat during the winter months, met the standard.*®’

(-’-FSA_#NF-) The guidelines also required quarterly assessments of the

conditions at the detention facilities. The first quarterly review of detention facilities covered the
period from January 2003 to April 2003, and examined conditions at DETENTION SITE
COBALT, as well as at DETENTION SITE BLUE in a different country, Country lzox At that
time, DETENTION SITE BLUE, which was initially designed for two detainees, was housing
five detainces. Nonetheless, the site review team found that conditions at DETENTION SITE
BLUE —including the three purpose-built “holding units”—met “the minimum standards set by
the CIA” in the January 2003 guidance. Detainees received bi-weekly medical evaluations,
brushed their teeth once a day, washed their hands prior to each meal, and could bathe once a
week. Amenities such as solid food, clothing (sweatshirts, sweatpants, and slippers), reading
materials, prayer rugs, and Korans were available depending on the detainee’s degree of

cooperation with interrogators.’®

(fFS#-#N-F-) The first quarter 2003 review also found that conditions at

DETENTION SITE COBALT satisfied the January 2003 guidance, citing “‘significant
improvements” such as space heaters and weekly medical evaluations. The review noted that a
new facility was under construction in Country ff§§ to replace DETENTION SITE COBALT, and
that this new detention facility, DETENTION SITE ORANGE, “will be a quantum leap
forward” because “[it] will incorporate heating/air conditioning, conventional plumbing,
appropriate lighting, shower, and laundry facilities.”*!® DETENTION SITE ORANGE opened
in 2004. Although some of the cells at DETENTION SITE ORANGE included plumbing,

6 Guidelines on Interrogations Conducted Pursuant to the Presidential Memorandum of Notification of 17

September 2001, signed by George Tenet, Director of Central Intelligence, January 28, 2003.

7 Guidelines on Interrogations Conducted Pursuant to the Presidential Memorandum of Notification of 17
September 2001, signed by George Tenet, Director of Central Intelligence, January 28, 2003.

8 CIA document titled, Quarterly Review of Confinement Conditions for CIA Detainees, 1/28/03 - 4/30/03, May
22,2003.

39 CIA document titled, Quarterly Review of Confinement Conditions for CIA Detainees, 1/28/03 - 4/30/03, May
22,2003.

19 CIA document titled, Quarterly Review of Confinement Conditions for CIA Detainees, 1/28/03 - 4/30/03, May
22,2003.
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detainees undergoing interrogation were kept in smaller cells, with waste buckets rather than
toilet facilities.*!!

@S/ ~=) The DCI's January 2003 interrogation guidelines listed 12

“enhanced techniques” that could be used with prior approval of the director of CTC, including
two—use of diapers for “prolonged periods” and the abdominal slap—that had not been
evaluated by the OLC. The “enhanced techniques” were only to be employed by “approved
interrogators for use with [a] specific detainee.” The guidelines also identified “standard
techniques”—including sleep deprivation up to 72 hours, reduced caloric intake, use of loud
music, isolation, and the use of diapers “generally not to cxceed 72 hours”—that required
advance approval “whenever feasible,” and directed that their use be documented. The *“‘standard
techniques” were described as “techniques that do not incorporate physical or substantial
psychological pressure.” The guidelines provided no description or further limitations on the use
of either the enhanced or standard interrogation techniques.*!?

(-'FSA_‘#N-F) Although the DCI interrogation guidelines were prepared as a

reaction to the death of Gul Rahman and the use of unauthorized interrogation techniques on
‘Abd al-Rahim al-Nashiri, they did not reference all interrogation practices that had been
employed at CIA detention sites. The guidelines, for example, did not address whether
interrogation techniques such as the “rough take down,”*'3 the use of cold water showers,
prolonged light deprivation were prohibited. In addition, by requiring advance approvat of
“standard techniques” “whenever feasible,” the guidelines allowed CIA officers a significant
amount of discretion to determine who could be subjected to the CIA’s “standard” interrogation
techniques, when those techniques could be applied, and when it was not “feasible” to request
advance approval from CIA Headquarters. Thus, consistent with the interrogation guidelines,
throughout much of 2003, CIA officers (including personnel not trained in interrogation) could,
at their discretion, strip a detainee naked, shackle him in the standing position for up to 72 hours,
and dousc the detainee repeatedly with cold water*!'>—without approval from CIA Headquarters
if those officers judged CIA Headquarters approval was not “feasible.” In practice, CIA
personnel routinely applied these types of interrogation techniques without obtaining prior
approval.

314 and

> I ;7!

312 Guidelines on Interrogations Conducted Pursuant to the Presidential Memorandum of Notification of 17

September 2001, signed by George Tenet, Director of Central Intelligence, January 28, 2003.

313 For a description of the “rough takedown,” see Memorandum for Deputy Director of Operations, from -
, January 28, 2003, Subject: Death Investigation - Gul RAHMAN, pp. 21-22.

314 One cold water shower was described by a CIA linguist: “Rahman was placed back under the cold water by the

guards at [_ [CIA OFFICER 1]]'s direction. Rahman was so0 cold that he could barely utter his alias.

According to [the on-site linguist], the entire process lasted no more than 20 minutes. It was intended to lower

Rahman’s resistance and was not for hygienic reasons. At the conclusion of the shower, Rahman was moved to one

of the four sleep deprivation cells where he was left shivering for hours or overnight with his hand chained over his

head.” See CIA Inspector General, Report of Investigation, Death of a Detainee h (2003-7402-1G),

April 27, 2005.

315 Water dousing was not designated by the CIA as a “standard” interrogation technique until June 2003. In

January 2004 water dousing was recategorized by the CIA as an “enhanced” interrogation technique.

316 See Volume 111 for additional information.
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(—TS/_#NF) The DCI interrogation guidelines also included the first

requirements related to recordkeeping, instructing that, for *“each interrogation session in which
an enhanced technique is employed,” the field prepare a “substantially contemporaneous
record... setting forth the nature and duration of each such technique employed, the identities of
those present, and a citation to the required Headquarters approval cable.”3!” In practice, these
guidelines were not followed.>!®

(M) There were also administrative changes to the program. As noted,
on December 3, 2002, CTC’s Renditions Group formally assumed responsibility for the
management and maintenance of all CIA detention and interrogation facilities.!* Prior to that
time, the interrogation program was “joined at the hip” with CTC’s ALEC Station, according to
TC Legal, although another CTC attorney who was directly involved in the
program informed the CIA OIG that she “was never sure what group in CTC was responsible for
interrogation activities.”*?® Even after the formal designation of the CIA’s Renditions Group,?!
tensions continued, particularly between CTC personnel who supported SWIGERT and
DUNBAR’s continued role, and the Renditions Group, which designated ||| | | I as thc

3" DIRECTOR [ (3021262 JAN 03); DIRECTOR [l (311702Z JAN 03). Despite the formal record
keeping requirement, the CIA’s June 2013 Response argues that detailed reporting on the use of the CIA’s enhanced
interrogation techniques at CIA detention sites was not necessary, stating: “First, the decline in reporting over time
on the use of enhanced techniques, which the Study characterizes as poor or deceptive record keeping, actually
reflects the maturation of the program. In early 2003, a process was put in place whereby interrogators requested
permission in advance for interrogation plans. The use of these plans for each detainee obviated the need for
reporting in extensive detail on the use of specific techniques, unless there were deviations from the approved plan.”
As detailed in the Study, the process put in place by the CIA in early 2003 explicitly required record keeping,
including “the nature and duration of each such technique employed, the identities of those present, and a citation to
the required Headquarters approval cable.” That requirement was never revised.

318 Subsequent to the January 2003 guidance, many cables reporting the use of the CIA’s enhanced interrogation
techniques listed the techniques used on a particular day, but did not describe the frequency with which those
techniques were employed, nor did they integrate the specific techniques into narratives of the interrogations. As the
CIA interrogation program continued, descriptions of the use of the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques were
recorded in increasingly summarized form, providing little information on how or when the techniques were applied
during an interrogation. There are also few CIA records detailing the rendition process for detainees and their
transportation to or between detention sites. CIA records do include detainee comments on their rendition
experiences and photographs of detainees in the process of being transported. Based on a review of the
photographs, detainees transported by the CIA by aircraft were typically hooded with their hands and feet shackled.
The detainees wore large headsets to eliminate their ability to hear, and these headsets were typically affixed to a
detainee’s head with duct tape that ran the circumference of the detainee’s head. CIA detainees were placed in
diapers and not permitted to use the lavatory on the aircraft. Depending on the aircraft, detainees were either
strapped into seats during the flights, or laid down and strapped to the floor of the plane horizontally like cargo. See
CIA photographs of renditions among CIA materials provided to the Committee pursuant to the Committee’s
document requests, as well as CIA detainee reviews in Volume III for additional information on the transport of CIA
detainees.

319 DIRECTOR 032336Z DEC 03)
320 Interview of by [REDACTED], [REDACTED] and [REDACTED)], Office of the Inspector

General, August 20, 2003. Interview of , by [REDACTED] and [REDACTED], Office of the
Inspector General, February 14, 2003. CTC Chief of Operations told the Inspector General that the program was
handled by the Abu Zubaydah Task Force. See February 11, 2003, interview report of ﬂ, Office
of the Inspector General.

321 As noted, the CIA’s Rendition Group is variably known as the “Renditions Group,” the “Renditions and

Detainees Group,” the “Renditions, Detentions, and Interroiations Groui,” and by the initials, “RDI” and “RDG.”
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CIA’s chief interrogator.?? As late as June 2003, SWIGERT and DUNBAR, operating outside
of the direct management of the Renditions Group, were deployed to DETENTION SITE BLUE
to both interrogate and conduct psychological reviews of detainees.*® The dispute extended to
interrogation practices. The Renditions Group’s leadership considered the waterboard, which
Chief of Interrogations _ was not certified to use, as “life threatening,” and
complained to the OIG that some CIA officers in the Directorate of Operations believed that, as a
result, the Renditions Group was “running a ‘sissified’ interrogation program.”** At the same
time, CIA CTC personnel criticized the Renditions Group andgi for their use of painful
stress positions, as well as for the conditions at DETENTION SITE COBALT.*®

@S/ 25 There were also concerns about possible conflicts of interest

related to the contractors, SWIGERT and DUNBAR. On January 30, 2003, a cable from CIA
Headquarters stated that “the individual at the interrogation site who administers the techniques
is not the same person who issues the psychological assessment of record,” and that only a staff
psychologist, not a contractor, could issue an assessment of record.”*?¢ In June 2003, however,
SWIGERT and DUNBAR were deployed to DETENTION SITE BLUE to interrogate KSM, as
well as to assess KSM’s “psychological stability” and “resistance posture.”*?” As described later
in this summary, the contractors had earlier subjected KSM to the waterboard and other CIA
enhanced interrogation techniques. The decision to send the contract psychologists to
DETENTION SITE BLUE prompted an OMS psychologist to write to OMS leadership that

322 Interview of ([ || || || | QEEE). by (REDACTED] and [REDACTED], Office of the Inspector General, April
3,2003. February 21, 2003, interview report, | Office of the Inspector General. Hammond
DUNBAR told the Office of Inspector General that there was “intrigue” between the RDG and him and SWIGERT,
and “there were emails coming to [DETENTION SITE BLUE] that questioned [his] and [SWIGERT]’s
qualifications.” See Interview of Hammond DUNBAR, by [REDACTED] and [REDACTED], Office of the

Inspector General, February 4, 2003.
; cc: .
, 5 , subject: Re: DG Tasking for IC Psychologists
[DUNBAR] and [SWIGERT]; date: June 20, 2003, at 5:23:29 PM. MS expressed concern that “no

323 Email from:

professional in the field would credit [SWIGERT and DUNBAR’s] later judgments as psychologists assessing the
subjects of their enhanced measures.” (See email from:  to: ) cC:
_, ] , : ; subject: Re: RDG

Tasking for IC Psychologists DUNBAR and SWIGERT; date: June 20, 2003, at 2:19:53 PM.) The CIA’s June 2013
Response states that CIA “Headquarters established CTC’s Renditions and Detentions Group CTC/RDG as the
responsible entity for all CIA detention and interrogation sites in December 2002, removing any latent institutional
confusion.”

324 Interview of , by [REDACTED] and [REDACTED)], Office of the Inspector General,
February 21, 2003. The chief of interrogations, i, told the Inspector General that the waterboard was
overused with Abu Zubaydah and KSM and was ineffective in the interrogations of KSM. (See Interview of -
I vy (REDACTED] and [REDACTED] of the Office of the Inspector General, March 27, 2003.) One doctor
involved in CIA interrogations using the waterboard interrogation technique stated that - “has a huge bias

against the waterboard b/c he’s not approved to use it. The reverse is true of the contract psy guys [SWIGERT and
DUNBAR] who have a vested interest in favor of it.” See email from: “; to: _;
cc: [REDACTEDY]; subject: re: More; date: April 11, 2003, at 08:11:07 AM.

325 March 10, 2003, interview report of h, Office of the Inspector General. Interview of [
m-EDACTED] and [REDACTED], Office of the Inspector General, February 27, 2003. Interview
of , by [REDACTED] and [REDACTED], Office of the Inspector General, April 3, 2003. March
24, 2003, interview report of , Office of the Inspector General.

326 DIRECTOR (301835Z JAN 03)
27 I 12168 (3018227 JUN 03)
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“[a]ny data collected by them from detainees with whom they previously interacted as
interrogators will always be suspect.”*?* | BllOMS then informed the management of
the Renditions Group that “no professional in the field would credit [SWIGERT and
DUNBAR’s] later judgments as psychologists assessing the subjects of their enhanced
measures.”*? At the end of their deployment, in June 2003, SWIGERT and DUNBAR provided
their assessment of KSM and recommended that he should be evaluated on a monthly basis by
“an experienced interrogator known to him” who would assess how forthcoming he is and
“remind him that there are differing consequences for cooperating or not cooperating.”*** In his
response to the draft Inspector General Special Review, HOMS noted that “OMS
concerns about conflict of interest... were nowhere more graphic than in the setting in which the
same individuals applied an EIT which only they were approved to employ, judged both its
effectiveness and detainee resilience, and implicitly proposed continued use of the technique — at
a daily compensation reported to be $1800/day, or four times that of interrogators who could not
use the technique.”3!

D. The Detention and Interrogation of ‘Abd al-Rahim al-Nashiri

1. CIA Interrogators Disagree with CIA Headquarters About Al-Nashiri’s Level of
Cooperation; Interrogators Oppose Continued Use of the CIA’s Enhanced Interrogation
Techniques

@S/~ ‘Abd al-Rahim al-Nashiri,?*? assessed by the CIA to be an al-

Qa’ida “terrorist operations planner” who was “intimately involved” in planning both the USS
Cole bombing and the 1998 East Africa U.S. Embassy bombings, was captured in the United
Arab Emirates in mid-October 2002.*** He provided information while in the custody of a
foreign government, including on plotting in the Persian Gulf,*** and was then rendered by the

328 The email, which expressed concern that SWIGERT and DUNBAR would interfere with on-site psychologists,
stated that, “[a]lthough these guys believe that their way is the only way, there should be an effort to define roles and

responsibilities before their arrogance and narcissism evolve into unproductive conflict in the field.” See email
from: I > I I .. IRDG Tosking for IC

Psychologists DUNBAR and SWIGERT:; date: June 16, 2003, at 4:54:32 PM.
329 Email from:

3 ; subject: Re: RDG Tasking for IC Psychologists DUNBAR and
SWIGERT: date: June 20, 2003, at 2:19:53 PM.
3o I 12168 (301822Z JUN 03). The CIA’s June 2013 Response states: “In practice, by April 2003, [CIA]
staff psychologists had taken over almost all of the provisions of support to the RDI program. As it concerned
[SWIGERT] and [DUNBAR], however, the appearance of impropriety continued, albeit to a lesser degree, because
they were occasionally asked to provide input to assessments on detainees whom they had not interrogated”
(emphasis added). The CIA’s June 2013 Response is inaccurate. For example, in June 2003, SWIGERT and
DUNBAR provided an assessment on KSM, a detainee whom they had interrogated.

1 Memorandum for Inspector General, Attention: Assistant IG for Investigations, [REDACTED], from
[REDACTED], M.D., edical Services_ re Draft Special Review-Counterterrorism Detention and
Interrogation Program (2003-7123-IG), at 13.

332 For more information on al-Nashiri, see detainee review of ‘Abd al-Rahim al-Nashiri in Volume IIL
33 ALEC : 11357 (0212427 DEC 02); [l 36710

334 See

For disseminated intelligence, see
; IA X IA
. For other reionini from al-Nashiri while he was in foreign government custody, see
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source.?®>? Like Janat Gul, Ghailani and al-Masri were subjected to extended sleep deprivation
and experienced hallucinations.?*>

D. May 2005 OLC Memoranda Rely on Inaccurate Representations from the CIA
Regarding the Interrogation Process, the CIA’s Enhanced Interrogation Techniques, and
the Effectiveness of the Techniques

(M) On May 4, 2005, Actini Assistant Attorney General Steven

Bradbury faxed to CIA Associate General Counsel a set of questions related to
the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques, in which Bradbury referenced medical journal
articles. The following day, [JJJJJll sent a letter to Bradbury stating that the CIA’s responses
had been composed by the CIA’s Office of Medical Services (OMS). The CIA response stated
that any lowering of the threshold of pain caused by sleep deprivation was “not germane” to the
program, because studies had only identified differences in sensitivity to heat, cold, and pressure,
and the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques “do not involve application of heat, cold,
pressure, any sharp objects (or indeed any objects at all).”**> With regard to the effect of sleep
deprivation on the experience of water dousing, the CIA response stated that ‘““at the temperatures
of water we have recommended for the program the likelihood of induction of pain by water
dousing is very low under any circumstances, and not a phenomenon we have seen in detainees
subject to this technique.”?**¢ In response to Bradbury’s query as to when edema or shackling
would become painful as a result of standing sleep deprivation, the CIA responded, “[w]e have
not observed this phenomenon in the interrogations performed to date, and have no reason to
believe on theoretical grounds that cdema or shackling would be more painful,” provided the
shackles are maintained with “appropriate slack” and “interrogators follow medical officers’
recommendation to end standing sleep deprivation and use an alternate technique when the
medical officer judges that edema is significant in any way.” The CIA response added that the
medical officers’ recommendations “are always followed,” and that “[d]etainees have not
complained about pain from edema.” Much of this information was inaccurate,?*’

=53 [ 1411 ( 04)

B34 IREDACTED] 3221
855 Letter from

. [REDACTED] 3242 (N 04)

, Associate General Counsel, CIA, to Steve Bradbury, Acting Assistant Attorney

General, Office of Legal Counsel, May 4, 2005. Multiple interrogatio

¢

n plans for CIA detainees called for
‘uncomfortably” cool temperatures along with sleep deprivation. See h 10361 ||
1 IS N 1065 (0305042 M AR 09)
856 [ etter from , Associate General Counsel, CIA, to Steve Bradbury, Acting Assistant Attorney
General, Office of Legal Counsel, May 4, 2005. The CIA had subjected detainees to cold water baths during periods
of sleep deprivation. As a CIA psychologist noted, “I heard [Abu Hudhaifa] gasp out loud several times as he was
placed in the tub.” (See email from: [REDACTED]; to: [REDACTED]; subject: Memo; date: March 15, 2004.) The
inspector general later reported that, as a result of being bathed in ice water, Abu Hudhaifa was “shivering” and
interrogators were concerned about his body temperature dropping (2005-8085-1G, at 12). See also h
ﬁ 42025 .
857 Letter from , Associate General Counsel, CIA, to Steve Bradbury, Acting Assistant Attorney
General, Office of Legal Counsel, May 4, 2005. Numerous detainees subjected to standing sleep deprivation
suffered from edema. (See 34098 ; (12502 (0113092
40847 (251619Z JUN 03); 1246 (171946Z AUG

03); 10492 (1615297 FEB 03); [ 10429 (1012152 FEB 03); 10909 (201918Z MAR
03); 42206 (191513Z JUL 03 ii Detainees sometimes complained of pain and swelling
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(ZFSA—QLN-F) Bradbury further inquired whether it was “possible to tell reliably

(e.g. from outward physical signs like grimaces) whether a detainee is experiencing severe pain.”
The CIA responded that “all pain is subjective, not objective,” 2% adding:

“Medical officers can monitor for evidence of condition or injury that most
people would consider painful, and can observe the individual for outward
displays and expressions associated with the experience of pain. Medical
officer [sic] can and do ask the subject, after the interrogation session has
concluded, if he is in pain, and have and do provide analgesics, such as Tylenol
and Aleve, to detainees who report headache and other discomforts during
their interrogations. We reiterate, that an interrogation session would be
stopped if, in the judgment of the interrogators or medical personnel, medical
attention was required.” 3%

($S/_¢/-N-F) As described elsewhere, multiple CIA detainees were subjected to

the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques despite their medical conditions.?*¢°

(CFSI—#NF) Bradbury’s fax also inquired whether monitoring and safeguards -

“will effectively avoid severe physical pain or suffering for detainees,” which was a formulation
of the statutory definition of torture under consideration. Despite concerns from OMS that its
assessments could be used to support a legal review of the CIA’s enhanced interrogation
techniques,?*! the CIA’s response stated:

in their lower extremities. (See, for example, 2615 (201528Z AUG OI 2619 (211349Z AUG

W 2620 (221303Z AUG 07); 2623 (2312342 AUG 07); 2629 (251637Z AUG 07);
2642 (271341Z AUG 07), 2643 (271856Z AUG 07).) As noted, standing sleep deprivation was L

not always discontinued with the onset of edema.

238 Letter from [ BB, A ssociate General Counsel, CIA, to Steve Bradbury, Acting Assistant Attorney
General, Office of Legal Counsel, May 4, 2005.
259 Letter from h Associate General Counsel, CIA, to Steve Bradbury, Acting Assistant Attorney

General, Office of Legal Counsel, May 4, 2005.
B0 See, for example, 10536 (151006Z JULY 02); ALEC 182321z JUL 02); | 10647

(201331Z AUG 02); 10618 (121448Z AUG 02); 10679 (250932Z AUG 02); DIRECTOR

I I Y 03);

38161 (131326Z MAY 03); DIRECTOR AY 03); DIRECTOR
34098 : H
34310 . See also detainee reports and reviews in Volume III.

2361 On April 11, 2005, after reviewing a draft OLC opinion, OMS personnel wrote a memorandum for
_ that stated, “[s]imply put, OMS is not in the business of saying what is acceptable in causing discomfort to
other human beings, and will not take on that burden.... OMS did not review or vet these techniques prior to their
introduction, but rather came into this program with the understanding of your office and DOJ that they were already
determined as legal, permitted and safe. We see this current iteration [of the OLC memorandum] as a reversal of
that sequence, and a relocation of those decisions to OMS. If this is the case, that OMS has now the responsibility

for determining a procedure’s legality through its determination of safety, then we will need to review all procedures
in that light given this new responsibility.” See email from: ; to ; cc:
[REDACTED], A h , , subject:
8 April Draft Opinion from DOJ — OMS Concerns; date: Airil 11,2003, at 10:12 AM.
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“[i]t is OMS’s view that based on our limited experience and the extensive
experience of the military with these techniques, the program in place has
effectively avoided severe physical pain and suffering, and should continue to
do so. Application of the thirteen techniques?*$? has not to date resulted in any
severe or permanent physical injury (or any injury other than transient
bruising), and we do not expect this to change.”?*63

(-’FSA-FN-F) In May 2005, Principal Deputy Assistant Attorney General Steven

Bradbury signed three memoranda that relied on information provided by the CIA that was
inconsistent with CIA’s operational records. On May 10, 2005, Bradbury signed two
memoranda analyzing the statutory prohibition on torture with regard to the CIA’s enhanced
interrogation techniques and to the use of the interrogation techniques in combination.?*¢* On
May 30, 2005, Bradbury signed another memorandum examining U.S. obligations under the
Convention Against Torture.*®> The memoranda approved 13 techniques: (1) dietary
manipulation, (2) nudity, (3) attention grasp, (4) walling, (5) facial hold, (6) facial slap or insult
slap, (7) abdominal slap, (8) cramped confinement, (9) wall standing, (10) stress positions, (11)
water dousing, (12) sleep deprivation (more than 48 hours), and (13) the waterboard. The three
memoranda relied on numerous CIA representations that, as detailed elsewhere, were
incongruent with CIA records, including: (1) the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques
would be used only when the interrogation team ‘“‘considers them necessary because a detainee is
withholding important, actionable intelligence or there is insufficient time to try other
techniques,” (2) the use of the techniques “is discontinued if the detainee is judged to be
consistently providing accurate intelligence or if he is no longer believed to have actionable
intelligence,” (3) the “use of the techniques usually ends after just a few days when the detainee
begins participating,” (4) the interrogation techniques “would not be used on a detainee not
reasonably thought to possess important, actionable intelligence that could not be obtained
otherwise,” and (5) the interrogation process begins with “an open, non-threatening approach” to
discern if the CIA detainee would be cooperative.?*6®

2362 The OLC was, at the time, analyzing the legality of 13 techniques, including the 10 techniques outlined in the
OLC’s August 1, 2002, memorandum, and additional techniques for which the CIA sought OLC approval in 2004.
263 L etter from || Q. Associate General Counsel, CIA, to Steve Bradbury, Acting Assistant Attorney
General, Office of Legal Counsel, May 4, 2005.

2364 Memorandum for John A. Rizzo, Senior Deputy General Counsel, Central Intelligence Agency, from Steven G.
Bradbury, Principal Deputy Assistant Attorney General, Office of Legal Counsel, May 10, 2005, Re: Application of
18 U.S.C. Sections 2340-2340A to Certain Techniques That May be Used in the Interrogation of a High Value al
Qaeda Detainee (DTS #2009-1810, Tab 9); Memorandum for John A. Rizzo, Senior Deputy General Counsel,
Central Intelligence Agency, from Steven G. Bradbury, Principal Deputy Assistant Attorney General, Office of
Legal Counsel, May 10, 2005, Re: Application of 18 U.S.C. Sections 2340-2340A to the Combined Use of Certain
Techniques in the Interrogation of High Value al Qaeda Detainees (DTS #2009-1810, Tab 10).

2365 Memorandum for John A. Rizzo, Senior Deputy General Counsel, Central Intelligence Agency, from Steven G.
Bradbury, Principal Deputy Assistant Attorney General, Office of Legal Counsel, May 30, 2005, Re: Application of
United States Obligations Under Article 16 of the Convention Against Torture to Certain Techniques that May be
Used in the Interrogation of High Value Al Qaeda Detainees (DTS #2009-1810, Tab 11).

2366 All of these assertions were inaccurate. See Volume IIT for examples of CIA detainees being immediately
subjected to the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques, including _g34491 (0514002
MAR 03). See also Volume III for details on other interrogations in 2003, when at least six detainees that year were
stripped and shackled, nude, in the standing stress position for sleep deprivation or subjected to other enhanced

interrogation techniques prior to being questioned. Thei included Asadullah (DIRECTOR | (NI 78
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@s/HE ~ =) The OLC memoranda also relied on CIA representations regarding

specific interrogation techniques that were incongruent with the operational history of the
program. For example, the CIA informed the OLC that it maintained a 75 degree minimum
room temperature for nude detainees as “a matter of policy,” with a minimum of 68 degrees in
the case of technical problems. This information was inconsistent with CIA practice both before
and after the CIA’s representations to the OLC.?*®” The OLC relied on the CIA representation
that standing sleep deprivation would be discontinued in the case of significant swelling of the
lower extremities (edema), whereas in practice the technique was repeatedly not stopped when
edema occurred.?*%® The OLC also repeated CIA representations that constant light was
necessary for security, even though the CIA had subjected detainees to constant darkness.?36°
Additional CIA representations accepted by the OLC—and found to be inconsistent with CIA
practice —related to: (1) the exposure of nude detainees to other detainees and detention facility
staff,237% (2) the use of water dousing—specifically the inaccurate representation that the
technique did not involve immersion, (3) the use of shackles in standing sleep deprivation, (4)
the likelihood of hallucinations during sleep deprivation, (5) the responsibility of medical
personnel to intervene when standing sleep deprivation results in hallucinations, and (6) the
purpose and the use of diapers on CIA detainees.?*”!

(M) The OLC repeated the CIA’s representations that “the effect of the

waterboard is to induce a sensation of drowning,” that “the detainee experiences this sensation
even if he is aware that he is not actually drowning,” and that “as far as can be determined, [Abu

03)); Abu Yasir al-Jaza’iri

35787 (
Abu Hudhaifa 1241
; and Majid Khan 46471 (241242Z MAY 03),
39077 (271719Z MAY 03)).

267  etter from [ iCTC Legal to Acting Assistant Attorney General Levin, December 30,
2004 (DTS #2009.1809). See, for example, 31115 . I
31429 (161303Z DEC 02); 10006 (0709027 DEC 02), [REDACTED] 33962 (211724Z FEB
: 34031 (2312427 FEB 03); 34575 h;
ﬁMAR 03); DIRECTOR MAR 03). Email to:

, from: [REDACTEDY]; subject: Medical Evaulation/Update (047); date: March I, 2004.
Email to:  from: [REDACTEDY]; subject: Medical Evaluation/Update [JJJj (047); date: March 8,

2004. Email to: ; from: [REDACTED]; subject: Medical Evaluation/Update (047); date:
March 9, 2004. 2347 (300624Z MAY 05); 1797 (021612Z DEC 05).
10909 (201918Z MAR 03); 2622 (230851Z AUG 07).

2368 See, for example,
t all times usini curtains

236 According to a CIA cable, cells at DETENTION SITE COBALT were “blacked out a
lus painted exterior windows. And double doors. The lights are never turned on.” (See

& 28246 .) Upon finding Ramzi bin al-Shibh “cowering in the corner, shivering” when

the light in his cell burned out, interrogators decided to use darkness as an interrogation technique. He was then

placed in sleep deprivation “standing, shackled feet and hands, with hands over his head, naked, in total darkness.”

See - 10521 (191750Z FEB 03); 10525 (200840Z FEB 03).

270 interview of [CIA OFFICER 1], December 19, 2002. CIA Interrogation
Program Draft Course Materials, March 11, 2003, p. 28. CTC/RDG Interrogation Program, December 15, 2003.

DIRECTOR (251609Z JUL 02). See also “Standard Interrogation Techniques,” attachment to email from:
; to: Scott W. Muller, John Rizzo, [REDACTED], H; subject: revised interrogation

discussion; date: July 19, 2004.
*CTC Legal _ to Acting Assistant Attorney General Levin, December 30,

2371 Letter from
2004 (DTS #2009-1809).
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Zubaydah and KSM] did not experience physical pain or, in the professional judgment of
doctors, is there any medical reason to believe they would have done so.” The OLC further
accepted that physical sensations associated with waterboarding, such as choking, “end when the
application ends.”?3’? This information is incongruent with CIA records. According to CIA
records, Abu Zubaydah’s waterboarding sessions “resulted in immediate fluid intake and
involuntary leg, chest and arm spasms” and “hysterical pleas.”?*’> A medical officer who
oversaw the interrogation of KSM stated that the waterboard technique had evolved beyond the
“sensation of drowning” to what he described as a “series of near drownings.”?*’* Physical
reactions to waterboarding did not necessarily end when the application of water was
discontinued, as both Abu Zubaydah and KSM vomited after being subjected to the
waterboard.?*”> Further, as previously described, during at least one waterboard session, Abu
Zubaydah “became completely unresponsive, with bubbles rising through his open, full mouth.”
He remained unresponsive after the waterboard was rotated upwards. Upon medical
intervention, he regained consciousness and expelled “copious amounts of liquid.”**’¢ The CIA
also relayed information to the OLC on the frequency with which the waterboard could be used
that was incongruent with past operational practice.?*”’

(ZFSI_#N-F) The May 10, 2005, memorandum analyzing the individual use of

the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques accepted the CIA’s representations that CIA
interrogators are trained for “approximately four weeks,” and that “all personnel directly
engagced in the interrogation of persons detained... have been appropriately screened (from the

2372 Memorandum for John A. Rizzo, Senior Deputy General Counsel, Central Intelligence Agency, from Steven G.
Bradbury, Principal Deputy Assistant Attorney General, Office of Legal Counsel, May 10, 2005, Re: Application of
18 U.S.C. Sections 2340-2340A to Certain Techniques That May be Used in the Interrogation of a High Value al
Qaeda Detainee (DTS #2009-1810, Tab 9); Memorandum for John A. Rizzo, Senior Deputy General Counsel,
Central Intelligence Agency, from Steven G. Bradbury, Principal Deputy Assistant Attorney General, Office of
Legal Counsel, May 10, 2005, Re: Application of 18 U.S.C. Sections 2340-2340A to the Combined Use of Certain
Techniques in the Interrogation of High Value al Qaeda Detainees (DTS #2009-1810, Tab 10); Memorandum for
John A. Rizzo, Senior Deputy General Counsel, Central Intelligence Agency, from Steven G. Bradbury, Principal
Deputy Assistant Attorney General, Office of Legal Counsel, May 30, 2005, Re: Application of United States
Obligations Under Article 16 of the Convention Against Torture to Certain Techniques that May be Used in the
Interroiation of High Value Al Qaeda Detainees (DTS #2009-1810, Tab 11).

el 10643 AUG 02); 10644 (201235Z AUG 02)
237 See email from: : to: s cc: | NG s.bicct: More; date:

April 10, 2003, at 5:59: 27 PM.

275 I 10644 (201235Z AUG 02); email from: [REDACTED]; to: and [REDACTED];
subject: Re: So it begins; date: August 4, 2002, at 09:45:09 AM; [ 10803 (131929Z MAR 03).

2376 o Abu Zubaydah and KSM detainee reviews in Volume 111, including 10803 (131929Z MAR 03).
See email from: _ OMS; to: and [REDACTEDY]; subject: Re: Departure; date: March 6,
2003, at 7:11:59 PM; email from: OMS; to [REDACTED] and [REDACTED)]; subject: Re:
Acceptable lower ambient temperatures; date: March 7, 2003, at 8:22 PM; email from: —, OMS; to:
[REDACTED] and [REDACTED]; subject: Re: Talking Points for review and comment; date: August 13, 2004, at
10:22 AM; email from: —; to: [REDACTED], [REDACTED], [REDACTED], [REDACTED)], and
[REDACTED]; subject: Re: Discussion with Dan Levin- AZ; date: October 26, 2004, at 6:09 PM.

377 Letter from ‘CTC Legal to Acting Assistant Attorney General Dan Levin, August 19,
2004 (DTS# 2009-1809). The OLC, having been informed by the CIA that 40 seconds was the maximum length of
a single waterboard application, noted that “you have informed us that this maximum has rarely been reached.” This

is inaccurate. KSM was subjected to 40-second exiosures at least 19 times.
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medical, psychological and security standpoints).”?*”® The CIA representations about training
and screening were incongruent with the operational history of the CIA program. CIA records
indicate that CIA officers and contractors who conducted CIA interrogations in 2002 did not
undergo any interrogation training. The first interrogator training course did not begin until
November 12, 2002, by which time at least 25 detainees had been taken into CIA custody.?”?
Numerous CIA interrogators and other CIA personnel associated with the program had either
suspected or documented personal and professional problems that raised questions about their
judgment and CIA employment. This group of officers included individuals who, among other
issues, had engaged in inappropriate detainee interrogations, had workplace anger management
issues, and had reportedly admitted to sexual assault.?38

378 Memorandum for John A. Rizzo, Senior Deputy General Counsel, Central Intelligence Agency, from Steven G.
Bradbury, Principal Deputy Assistant Attorney General, Office of Legal Counsel, May 10, 2005, Re: Application of
18 U.S.C. Sections 2340-2340A to Certain Techniques That May be Used in the Interrogation of a High Value al
Qaeda Detainee (DTS #2009-1810, Tab 9). As described in this summary, when ﬁCTC Legal,

, insisted that CTC Legal vet and review the background of CIA personnel involved in the CIA’s
interrogations, he directly linked this review to the legality of the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques.
ﬂ wrote: “we will be forced to DISapprove [sic] the participation of specific personnel in the use of
enhanced techniques unless we have ourselves vetted them and are satisfied with their qualifications and suitability
for what are clearly unusual measures that are lawful only when practiced correctly by personnel whose records
clearly demonstrate their suitability for that role.” The chief of CTC, Jose Rodriguez, objected to this proposal. See
email from: TC/LGL; to: [REDACTED]; cc: Jose Rodriguez, [REDACTED],

[REDACTED], , subject: EYES ONLY ; date: November i, 2002, at 03:13:01 PM; email
from: Jose Rodriguez; to: 5 .CTC/LGL; cc: [REDACTED], [REDACTED], [REDACTED],
[REDACTED], ; subject: EYES ONLY; date: November ., 2002, at 04:27 PM.

57 The training to conduct the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques required only approximately 65 hours of
classroom and operational instruction. December 4, 2002, Training Report, High Value Target Interrogation and

Exploitation (HVTIE) Training Seminar 12-18 Nov 02, (pilot running).
2% Among other abuses, hhad engaged in “Russian Roulette” with a detainee. (See Memorandum for

Chief, Staff and Operations Branch from [REDACTED], | ENEIINNE]EEEEEE. /.- 3. 1980, Subject:
[ ] Wemorandum for Inspector General from [REDACTED)], Inspector, via Deputy
Inspector General, re \ 1G-.84.) [CIA OFFICER 2], who threatened ‘Abd al-

Rahim al-Nashiri with a gun and a power drill,

. He was sent home short of tour twice—once for
and a ating al-Nashiri, for engaging i

L) See also Report to CIA Headquarters,

[REDACTED],

, by [REDACTED],

. See email from:
[REDACTED]; to [REDACTED], [REDACTED], [REDACTED], and [REDACTED]; subject:
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s/ - 5) Finally, the OLC accepted a definition of “High Value Detainee”
conveyed by the CIA?*! that limited the use of the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques to
“senior member[s]” of al-Qa’ida or an associated terrorist group who have “knowledge of
imminent terrorist threats” or “direct involvement in planning and preparing” terrorist actions.
However, at the time of the OLC opinion, the CIA had used its enhanced interrogation
techniques on CIA detainees who were found neither to have knowledge of imminent threats nor
to have been directly involved in planning or preparing terrorist actions. Some were not senior
al-Qa’ida members,?**? or even members of al-Qa’ida.**® Others were never suspected of
having information on, or a role in, terrorist plotting and were suspected only of having
information on the location of UBL or other al-Qa’ida figures,?*% or were simply believed to
have been present at a suspected al-Qa’ida guesthouse.?® A year later, ﬁCTC Legal
wrote to Acting Assistant Attorney General Steven Bradbury suggesting a new standard that
more closely reflected actual practice by allowing for the CIA detention and interrogation of
detainees to be based on the belief that the detainee had information that could assist in locating
senior al-Qa’ida leadership.?*® The OLC modified the standard in a memorandum dated July
20, 2007.2%7 By then, the last CIA detainee, Muhammad Rahim, had already entered CIA
custody, 2388

&S/~ =) The May 30, 2005, OLC memorandum analyzing U.S. obligations

under the Convention Against Torture relied heavily on CIA representations about the
intelligence obtained from the program. Many of these representations were provided in a
March 2, 2005, CIA memorandum known as the “Effectiveness Memo,” in which the CIA
advised that the CIA program “works and the techniques are effective in producing foreign
intelligence.” The “Effectiveness Memo” stated that “[w]e assess we would not have succeeded
in overcoming the resistance of Khalid Shaykh Muhammad (KSM), Abu Zubaydah, and other
equally resistant high-value terrorist detainees without applying, in a careful, professional and

[REDACTED],

[REDACTED],
. For more information, see Volume 11I.
2381 Fax to Acting Assistant Attorney General Levin from , January 4, 2005 (DTS #2009-1809).

282 See detainee reviews for Suleiman Abdullah and Janat Gul in Volume III for additional information.

2383 See detainee review for Rafiq bin Bashir bin Halul Al-Hami in Volume III for additional information.

238 See detainee review for Ridha Ahmad al-Najjar in Volume III for additional information.

2385 See detainee reviews for Tawfiq Nasir Awad al-Bihani and Arsala Khan in Volume 11I for additional
information.

286 | etter from [JJJJJlicTC Legal | o Acting Assistant Attorney General Bradbury, May 23, 2006
(DTS #2009-1809).

2387 Memorandum for John A. Rizzo, Acting General Counsel, Central Intelligence Agency, from Steven G.
Bradbury, Principal Deputy Assistant Attorney General, Office of Legal Counsel, July 20, 2007, Re: Application of
the War Crimes Act, the Detainee Treatment Act, and Common Article 3 of the Geneva Conventions to Cettain
Techniques that May Be Used by the CIA in the Interrogation of High Value al Qaeda Detainees (DTS #2009-1810,

Tab 14).
); I ;! c (M) Viuh:mmad

2388
, 2007.

6439
Rahim entered C1A custody on July
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safe manner, the full range of interrogation techniques.”*** The CIA “Effectiveness Memo”
further stated that “[p]rior to the use of enhanced techniques against skilled resistors [sic] like
KSM and Abu Zubaydah—the two most prolific intelligence producers in our control—CIA
acquired little threat information or significant actionable intelligence information.” As
described in this summary, the key information provided by Abu Zubaydah that the CIA
attributed to the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques was provided prior to the use of the
CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques. KSM was subjected to CIA’s enhanced interrogation
techniques within minutes of his questioning, and thus had no opportunity to divulge information
prior to their use. As described elsewhere, CIA personnel concluded the waterboard was not an
effective interrogation technique against KSM.?3%

(JI_IN—F) Under a section entitled, “Results,” the CIA “Effectiveness Memo”

represented that the “CIA’s use of DOJ-approved enhanced interrogation techniques, as part of a
comprehensive interrogation approach, has enabled CIA to disrupt terrorist plots, capture
additional terrorists, and collect a high volume of critical intelligence on al-Qa’ida.” It then
listed 11 examples of “critical intelligence” acquired “after applying enhanced interrogation
techniques”:?3! the “Karachi Plot,” the “Heathrow Plot,” the “Second Wave,” the “Guraba
Cell,” “Issa al-Hindi,” “Abu Talha al-Pakistani,” “‘Hambali’s Capture,” “Jafaar al-Tayyar,” the
“Dirty Bomb Plot,” the “Shoe Bomber,” and intelligence obtained on “Shkai, Pakistan.” These
representations of “effectiveness” were almost entirely inaccurate and mirrored other inaccurate
information provided to the White House, Congress, and the CIA inspector general.>*? In
addition, on April 15, 2005, the CIA provided the OLC with an eight-page document entitled,
“Briefing Notes on the Value of Detainee Reporting.” The CIA “Briefing Notes” document
repeats many of the same CIA representations in the “Effectiveness Memo,” but added additional
inaccurate information related to the capture of Iyman Faris.?**3

s/ ~=) The OLC’s May 30, 2005, memorandum relied on the CIA’s

inaccurate representations in the “Effectiveness Memo™ and the *“Briefing Notes” document in
determining that the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques did not violate the Fifth
Amendment’s prohibition on executive conduct that “shocks the conscience,” indicating that this
analysis was a “highly context-specific and fact-dependent question.” The OLC also linked its

%8 CIA Memorandum for Steve Bradbury at the Department of Justice, dated March 2, 2005, from |l

s - Legal Group, DCI Counterterrorist Center, subject “Effectiveness of the CIA Counterterrorist
Interrogation Techniques.”
29 Interview of , by [REDACTED] and [REDACTED], Office of the Inspector General, May
15, 2003; Interview of , by [REDACTED] and [REDACTED], Office of the Inspector General,
October 22, 2003; 11715 (201047Z MAY 03); Sametime Communication, * and
I (5/Aug/06, 10:28:38 to 10:58:00; Interview of , by [REDACTED] and [REDACTED],
Office of the Inspector General, April 3, 2003; Sametime Communication, and [REDACTED],
02/May/05, 14:51:48 to 15:17:39; Interview of , by [REDACTED], [REDACTED], and
[REDACTED], Office of the Inspector General, August 20, 2003.
239 Emphasis in the original.
239 See list of 20 CIA representations included in this summary and additional details in Volume II. Representations
regarding Abu Talha al-Pakistani, which were less frequent, are also described this summary and in greater detail in
Volumes II and III.
29 April 15, 2005,10:47AM, fax to DOJ Command Center for ||| NNEE. Office of Legal Counsel, U S.
Department of Justice, from _, Il Lc:2! Group, DCI Counterterrorist Center. Cover note: ‘-,

Answers to some of your questions,” with attachment entitled “Brieﬁni Notes on the Value of Detainee Reporting.”
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analysis of whether the use of the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques was “constitutionally
arbitrary” to the representation by the CIA that its interrogation program produced “substantial
quantities of otherwise unavailable actionable intelligence.”?** The CIA’s representations to the
OLC that it obtained “otherwise unavailable actionable intelligence” from the use of the CIA’s
enhanced interrogation techniques were inaccurate.?3%

@S/ %) The OLC memorandum repeated specific inaccurate CIA

representations, including that the waterboard was used against Abu Zubaydah and KSM “only
after it became clear that standard interrogation techniques were not working”; that the
information related to the “Guraba Cell” in Karachi was “otherwise unavailable actionable
intelligence”; that Janat Gul was a “high value detainee”; and that information provided by
Hassan Ghul regarding the al-Qa’ida presence in Shkai, Pakistan, was attributable to the CIA’s
enhanced interrogation techniques.?*®® Citing CIA information, the OLC memorandum also
stated that Abu Zubaydah was al-Qa’ida’s “third or fourth highest ranking member” and had
been involved “in every major terrorist operation carried out by al Qaeda,” and that *“again, once
enhanced techniques were employed,” Abu Zubaydah “provided significant information on two
operatives... who planned to build and detonate a ‘dirty bomb’ in the Washington DC area.”
The OLC repeated additional inaccurate information from the CIA related to KSM’s reporting,
including representations about the “Second Wave” plotting, the Heathrow Airport plotting, and
the captures of Hambali, Iyman Faris, and Sajid Badat.?**’ The OLC relied on CIA
representations that the use of the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques against ‘Abd al-
Rahim al-Nashiri produced “notable results as early as the first day,” despite al-Nashiri providing
reporting on the same topics prior to entering CIA custody. The OLC also repeated inaccurate
CIA representations about statements reportedly made by Abu Zubaydah and KSM.2%

2394 Memorandum for John A. Rizzo, Senior Deputy General Counsel, Central Intelligence Agency, from Steven G.
Bradbury, Principal Deputy Assistant Attorney General, Office of Legal Counsel, May 30, 2005, Re: Application of
United States Obligations Under Article 16 of the Convention Against Torture to Certain Techniques that May be
Used in the Interrogation of High Value Al Qaeda Detainees.

2393 See specific CIA examples of the “Results” of using the “CIA’s use of DOJ-approved enhanced interrogation
techniques™ in March 2, 2005, Memorandum for Steve Bradbury from ﬂ, - Legal Group, DCI
Counterterrorist Center, “Effectiveness of the CIA Counterterrorist Interrogation Techniques.” The specific
representations in the “Briefing Notes” document were similar to those in the CIA’s “Effectiveness Memo™ and
included references to detainee reporting on Jose Padilla, Hambali, Dhiren Barot, Sajid Badat, Iyman Faris, Jaffar al-
Tayyar, the Heathrow Airport plotting, and the Karachi plotting.

23% For example, as detailed elsewhere in this review, Hassan Gul provided detailed information on al-Qa’ida’s
presence in Shkai, Pakistan, prior to the use of the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques.

2397 Memorandum for John A. Rizzo, Senior Deputy General Counsel, Central Intelligence Agency, from Steven G.
Bradbury, Principal Deputy Assistant Attorney General, Office of Legal Counsel, May 30, 2005, Re: Application of
United States Obligations Under Article 16 of the Convention Against Torture to Certain Techniques that May be
Used in the Interrogation of High Value Al Qaeda Detainees.

2398 The OLC memorandum stated that “[bJoth KSM and Zubaydah had ‘expressed their belief that the general US
population was ‘weak,’ lacked resilience, and would be unable to ‘do what was necessary’ to prevent the terrorists
from succeeding in their goals.”” As described elsewhere in this summary, and in more detail in the full Committee
Study, CIA records indicate that KSM and Abu Zubaydah did not make these statements. The memorandum also
repeated CIA representations about KSM’s comment, “Soon, you will know,” and Abu Zubaydah’s reported
statements about being “permitted by Allah” to provide information. As described in this summary, these
representations are not supported by CIA records.
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@s/H ~ ) Finally, the May 30, 2005, OLC memorandum referenced the CIA

Inspector General May 2004 Special Review, stating: “we understand that interrogations have
led to specific, actionable intelligence as well as a general increase in the amount of intelligence
regarding al Qacda and its affiliates.”% The OLC memorandum cited pages in the Special
Review that included inaccurate information provided by CIA personnel to the CIA’s OIG,
including representations related to Jose Padilla and Binyam Muhammad, Hambali and the “Al-
Qa’ida cell in Karachi,” the Parachas, Iyman Faris, Saleh al-Marri, Majid Khan, the Heathrow
Airport plotting, and other *“plots.”*

E. After Passage of the Detainee Treatment Act, OLC Issues Opinion on CIA Conditions of
Confinement, Withdraws Draft Opinion on the CIA’s Enhanced Interrogation
Techniques After the U.S. Supreme Court Case of Hamdan v. Rumsfeld

(U) On December 19, 2005, anticipating the passage of the Detainee
Treatment Act, Acting CIA General Counsel John Rizzo requested that the OLC review whether
the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques, as well as the conditions of confinement at CIA
detention facilities, would violate the Detainee Treatment Act.”*! In April 2006, attorneys at
OLC completed initial drafts of two legal memoranda addressing these questions.>*** In June
2006, however, the U.S. Supreme Court case of Hamdan v. Rumsfeld prompted the OLC to
withdraw its draft memorandum on the impact of the Detainee Treatment Act on the CIA’s
enhanced interrogation techniques. As _CTC Legal explained, the OLC would
prepare “a written opinion ‘if we want’... but strongly implied we shouldn’t seek it.”>** As
described in a July 2009 report of the Department of Justice Office of Professional
Responsibility, the Administration determined that, after the Hamdan decision, it would need
new legislation to support the continued use of the CIA’s enhanced interrogation techniques.”

s+~ %) Even as it withdrew its draft opinion on the CIA’s enhanced

interrogation techniques, the OLC continued to analyze whether the CIA’s conditions of
confinement violated the Detainee Treatment Act. To support this analysis, the CIA asserted to
the OLC that loud music and white noise, constant light, and 24-hour shackling were all for

404

% Memorandum for John A. Rizzo, Senior Deputy General Counsel, Central Intelligence Agency, from Steven G.
Bradbury, Principal Deputy Assistant Attorney General, Office of Legal Counsel, May 30, 2005, Re: Application of
United States Obligations Under Article 16 of the Convention Against Torture to Certain Techniques that May be
Used in the Interrogation of High Value Al Qaeda Detainees.

2% Memorandum for John A. Rizzo, Senior Deputy General Counsel, Central Intelligence Agency, from Steven G.
Bradbury, Principal Deputy Assistant Attorney General, Office of Legal Counsel, May 30, 2005, Re: Application of
United States Obligations Under Article 16 of the Convention Against Torture to Certain Techniques that May be
Used in the Interrogation of High Value Al Qaeda Detainees, pp. 10-11, citing IG Special Review, pp. 85-91.

01 The Detainee Treatment Act passed on December 30, 2005. Letter from Senior Deputy General Counsel John
Rizzo to Acting Assistant Attorney General Bradbury, December 19, 2005 (DTS #2009-1809).

202 April 19, 2006, Fax from h Legal Group, CIA Counterterrorism Center to DOJ Command

Center for Steve Bradbury (DTS #2009-1809).

203 Email from: *; to: [REDACTED]; cc: —, John Rizzo; subject: FW: Summary
of Hamdan Decision; date: June 30, 2006, at 4:44 PM.

2% Department of Justice Office of Professional Responsibility; Report, Investigation into the Office of Legal
Counsel’s Memoranda Concerning Issues Relating to the Central Intelligence Agency’s Use of ‘Enhanced
Interrogation Techniques’ on Suspected Terrorists, July 29, 2009 (DTS #2010-1058).
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